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Since its beginning in 1937, Lilly Endowment has focused its grantmaking on endeavors that

promote human dignity and self-reliance; provide youth opportunities that lead to rewarding and

meaningful lives; foster strong, healthy, cohesive and financially secure families; offer educational

opportunities to enable individuals to become competent and contributing members of society; help

inspire individuals and families overcome the challenges of poverty and other causes of despair; and

develop and educate pastoral leaders to enhance the impact of congregations and the religious lives of

people of faith. The Endowment recognizes that for individuals and families to thrive, the communities

in which they live must be healthy and supportive. Therefore, it also has targeted its resources on efforts

to build vibrant communities that offer a quality of life that fosters continued growth and prosperity.

Relief and recovery 

One story depicts the work of the Indiana

Association of United Ways to help Indiana com-

munities recover from the disastrous storms and

floods that caused despair and damage to thousands 

of Hoosiers in 86 Indiana counties in 2008. Since 1990

the Endowment has invested $63 million (not including

grants to the United Way of Central Indiana) in a series

of initiatives to build the capacity of a system of 65 local

United Ways across Indiana to respond to the human

service needs of their communities. Because of this

strong infrastructure, the Endowment was confident

that its grant of $45 million made in June 2008 to the

association for disaster recovery would be well used.

United Way is featured prominently in another story

in this report. A key reason the Endowment has pro-

vided more than $300 million to the United Way of

Central Indiana (UWCI) since the Endowment’s

founding in 1937 has been to help sustain United Way’s

capacity to help individuals and families overcome

daunting challenges and build better lives. While UWCI

has done this year in and year out, in the past year or so

it has been necessary more than ever to respond to the

extraordinary challenges caused by the economic
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ExecutiveMessage
Building Meaningful Lives: Connecting Institutions and Communities

In such a community, residents feel connected to each

other and believe they are well served by community

and government institutions. Business and civic leaders

are imaginative and strategic in planning for the com-

munity’s future. They recognize that ongoing economic

development and investment in the community are

required to build the tax and philanthropic bases

required for essential government and nonprofit

services and programs and that without these programs

and services the community’s quality of life loses its

appeal to current and prospective residents.

To foster sustained progress in the pursuit of these

objectives, the Endowment has helped build strong and

effective institutions to provide leadership, funding and

other important resources in its three long-standing areas of

interest: community development, education and religion.

Endowment grants have helped these institutions

attract first-rate staffs, conduct effective programs,

align the needs of their stakeholders through relevant

research and evaluation, and foster wise and engaged

boards. The stories in this annual report depict efforts

that further the objectives important to the Endowment

and that demonstrate the significance of having strong

institutions to lead and support these efforts.



recession that began in 2008. Because of the confi-

dence the Endowment and several other funders had in

its ability, UWCI has received $8 million from these

funders ($6.5 million from the Endowment) to admin-

ister the Community Economic Relief Fund. This new

fund has provided, in addition to regular United Way

allocations, support to 45 human service agencies to

meet immediate needs of individuals and families

reeling from the economic crisis.

Community foundations at the center

Another story describes a $20 million grant to

Community Partnerships, an affiliate of the Community

Foundation of Greater Fort Wayne, for the Talent

Opportunity Success 2015 initiative (TOpS). TOpS

leverages the nearly $425 million investment the

Endowment has made since 1990 through its Giving

Indiana Funds for Tomorrow (GIFT) initiative to build 

a network of community foundations in each of

Indiana’s 92 counties.

The community foundation and Community

Partnerships conducted countless meetings and conver-

sations with business, education and civic leaders in

developing TOpS, which seeks to build the intellectual

capital of an 11-county region in Northeast Indiana so

that its residents can take advantage of the opportu-

nities arising from

the impressive

defense and aero-

space industry

cluster there.

The Endowment

is pleased to note in this story that two other

Endowment-funded initiatives provided support in the

design of TOpS: Conexus—Indiana’s advanced manu-

facturing and logistics initiative sponsored by the Central

Indiana Corporate Partnership (CICP) Foundation—and

the Center of Excellence in Leadership of Learning at

the University of Indianapolis. In 2009 the Endowment

awarded supplemental grants for these initiatives of

$3.4 million and $7.5 million, respectively, to support

the continuation of their important work.

The Endowment also made another significant

grant in 2009 that built on the investment it has made

in Indiana community foundations. A $7 million grant

to the Kosciusko County Community Foundation for

the OrthoWorx initiative will help that region plan and

launch charitable and educational efforts to take full

advantage of the opportunities presented by the ortho-

pedic-device industry in Warsaw, Ind., also called the

“orthopedic capital of the world.” This initiative holds

great potential also because of the integral engagement

of BioCrossroads (another CICP Foundation initiative)

and Grace College, both of which have been supported

by the Endowment, and the dedication and leadership of

the orthopedic-device companies headquartered there.

Interconnected communities

The grants for the initiatives in Fort Wayne and

Warsaw exemplify the Endowment’s efforts

to help build vibrant communities that offer a quality 

of life that fosters continued growth and prosperity. In

both situations, a dynamic exists which the Endowment

has tried to promote in other contexts: the intercon-

nectedness of the various sectors of community life—

business, government, nonprofit organizations, 
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ABOVE: Stephanie Scott gives Sirjames Smith the hug treatment at Flanner House, 
Indianapolis. (Story on page 10) RIGHT: Administrators at Lakeland High School 
prepare students for Leading EDGE. (Story on page 12)



education, and so forth. In past annual reports the

Endowment has noted that to prosper on a sustained

basis, communities must have successful businesses

that employ talented people who give their time and

resources to strengthen nonprofit organizations such as

museums, schools, United Way agencies, universities

and congregations. In turn, these organizations help

create a community ethos that appeals to businesses

and the employees they seek to recruit and retain.

These businesses and their employees contribute to the

tax and philanthropic bases which help the government

and nonprofit organizations provide the services and

programs needed to make the community more livable

and attractive. The positive momentum then continues

to grow.

Another example of a major grant approved in

2009 that promotes such interconnectedness and builds

on past investments made by the Endowment is the 

$60 million grant to the Indiana University Foundation

for the Translational Science Initiative at the Indiana

University School of Medicine (IUSM). This initiative

will dramatically enhance the research and educational

capacity of IUSM through the recruitment of more than

20 physician scientists and the development of other

resources important to the research enterprise.

The initiative builds on the momentum IUSM has

achieved in part through two grants totaling $155 million

approved by the Endowment in 2000 and 2003 for the

Indiana Genomics Initiative. The grants have helped

develop IUSM as an essential foundation for the state’s

life sciences industry cluster, which is spearheaded by

BioCrossroads. Since 2002 the Endowment has been

pleased to provide nearly $18 million to the CICP

Foundation to support the charitable and educational

efforts of BioCrossroads to help bring together the

players and resources required for the life sciences

sector to flourish in Indiana.

Partnership in religion

In the field of religion, the Endowment has

helped build the capacity of several institutions

that are important resources in efforts throughout the

country to foster vibrant and effective congregations;

strengthen and support current pastors; and encourage,

educate and nurture a new generation of talented pastors.

A story in this report describes the role of the Atlanta-

based Fund for Theological Education (FTE) in several

Endowment-funded initiatives to prepare a new gener-

ation of church leaders. Since 1975 the Endowment has

supported FTE and its scholarship and other programs

with grants totaling more than $67 million.

Veterans and their families—

connecting and supporting

This annual report also includes a story about the

Endowment’s efforts to support Indiana veterans and

military families facing serious challenges resulting

from the conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan. The

Endowment finds compelling the fact that while

Indiana ranks 15th in the nation in population, it has

the fourth largest number of National Guard members.

Through its $27.7 million Initiative to Support Indiana

Combat Service Members and Their Families, the

Endowment has funded a range of efforts to help with

4 Lilly Endowment Inc. Annual Report 2009

ABOVE: March 2008 floods caught Jeff Seramur’s home on Tippecanoe River near Lafayette. 
He’ll be a “happy camper” (literally) until it’s rebuilt. (Story on page 6) RIGHT: Wounded in Iraq,
Cory Bourne finds work and education because of new Indiana program. (Story on page 25)



the medical, social service,

education, family and

financial needs of service

personnel. The overall goal

is to honor the sacrifices of

these veterans and their

families by helping them

meet their challenges and

take advantage of opportunities that may lead them to

more rewarding and meaningful lives.

As our board deliberated on this series of grants,

we were informed and encouraged by board member

Otis Bowen, former two-term governor of Indiana and

secretary of the Department of Health and Human

Services. He earned his medical degree in 1942, then

served in the Medical Corps of the U.S. Army until

1946. More than 60 years later, his wartime memories

of the tragedies and triumphs in the Pacific guided our

thoughts as we planned this effort to help the veterans

of the first wars of the 21st century.

The story in this report depicts the real-life impact

of various programs and projects of the Crane Learning

& Employment Center for Veterans, the Military Family

Research Institute at Purdue University (MFRI), the

Richard L. Roudebush VA Medical Center in

Indianapolis, and the Indiana National Guard Relief

Fund. Endowment grants also support veterans and

their families beyond Indiana through MFRI, the

leading university-based center studying and reporting

on issues facing veterans and their families. The

Endowment is pleased to know that national policy-

makers and others interested in these issues consult

MFRI’s research and expertise in their deliberations.

Inspired by founders

The needs that exist in the Endowment’s main

areas of interest have been exacerbated in this

time of serious economic challenge. The situation is

sobering. We are confident conditions will eventually

improve, but it may be some time before the impact of

a recovery is felt broadly

throughout society. Continued

attention and support needs to be

given to those most negatively

affected by the economic crisis.

Our founders’ example of

establishing this organization in

1937 in the midst of the Great

Depression emboldens us to marshal the resources

available to us in the most effective way to promote the

values they espoused. Their faith in forming this foun-

dation has resulted in more than $7.3 billion in grants

since its founding. We are committed to keeping this

institution strong and vital so that it can continue to

help the countless dedicated and talented individuals

who conduct the programs of the Endowment’s

grantees in pursuit of their worthy aims. A full listing of

the Endowment’s 2009 grants can be found in the

Grant Approvals section of this report or on the

Endowment’s Web site, www.lillyendowment.org.

In closing, we note with sadness the passing 

of Ruth Lilly, the daughter of one of the Endowment’s

founders, J.K. Lilly Jr. Her impressive legacy of philan-

thropy in the long tradition of her family is indelible

and of incalculable impact. She will be missed by her

family and all those who knew her and benefited from

her many kindnesses.

Executive Message 5
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To support the massive relief and recovery pro-

grams, which continued to unfold throughout 2009 in

Indiana, Lilly Endowment made grants in June 2008

totaling $50 million to three organizations. The

American Red Cross and the Salvation Army each

received $2.5 million to alleviate the immediate needs

of storm victims and replenish the agencies’ disaster-

relief funds. For long-term cleanup and construction

projects, the Endowment awarded $45 million to IAUW,

Roger Frick, president of the Indiana Association of United Ways (IAUW), keeps a
tattered, grimy T-shirt bearing the familiar “Live United” logo draped over a chair in
his office in downtown Indianapolis. “It reminds me of what Indiana has been
through,” he explains, “and the fact that our staff experienced a small taste of it.”

He’s talking about the series of devastating storms and floods that swept
through northwestern Indiana in January and February 2008, ravaged southern
Indiana in June, and engulfed the state’s lakeshore region in September. After cleanup
efforts were well under way, another round of storms struck in March 2009 and
pounded several of the same locations.

“People who had started working on getting their

houses back in shape saw their building materials swept

down the river with the next flood,” recalls Alan Welch,

director of Disaster Assistance for Northwest Indiana

(DANI), a coalition of faith-based and community

organizations formed last year to respond to storm

damage in eight counties. “Some of our areas have

been part of four different federal disaster declarations

since we’ve been in business,” says Welch.

Car stranded in flooded intersection in Edinburgh, Ind., is one iconic image of the deluges that washed over southern
and central Indiana counties in June 2008. The highest recorded rainfall was in Edinburgh—10.94 inches in seven hours.
During 2008 the state and federal governments declared 86 Indiana counties disaster zones, while water, wind and tor-
nado disasters caused more than $1 billion in damages. Lilly Endowment’s $45 million grant to the Indiana Association
of United Ways expedited volunteer efforts and helped with immediate needs.

Mobilizing toRebuild



the largest disaster-recovery grant in

the Endowment’s history. The grant

created the IND (Indiana Natural

Disaster) Fund, supervised by a 14-

member advisory panel that

responded to requests from commu-

nities designated as disaster areas by

the federal or state government. The

goals of the IND Fund were to help

meet needs not covered by other

sources, such as the Federal

Emergency Management Agency

(FEMA) or insurance.

“We wanted to help people get

back to where they were,” explains

Larry Welker, chairman of the

advisory panel and treasurer of

IAUW. The panel, which comprised

individuals with a variety of relevant

expertise and perspectives, encouraged

each county’s United Way or community foundation to

convene a committee of residents to prioritize the most

pressing problems, apply for grants from the IND Fund,

and then oversee the recovery work.

“I can’t imagine trying to do this job without the

support of the infrastructure already in place

throughout the state,” says Welker. “Having those

United Way relationships saved an incredible amount of

time and gave us the benefit of on-the-ground

knowledge.”

A first round of grants enabled each

county’s committee to respond to immediate

needs, evaluate damage and develop plans to

address them. A second round of funds was

available to implement the plans on a project-by-project

basis. Welker and the advisory panel reviewed local

requests and allocated dollars for projects ranging from

replacing a family’s water heater to rebuilding the gym-

nasium floor at the Boys & Girls Club in Franklin, Ind.

By the end of 2009, IAUW had more than 7,000 house-

holds seeking assistance in 50 Hoosier counties. “Of those

cases, 2,500 are still under consideration,” says Frick. 

Keeping the story alive

News of Indiana’s storm damage dominated

state and national media for days. Particularly

poignant were pictures from Bartholomew County

(about 50 miles south of Indianapolis) where important

facilities such as the regional hospital in Columbus

were inundated with water. “At first people were wan-

dering around dazed, not knowing what to do or where

to go,” according to Doug Otto, president of the

Bartholomew County United Way. That quickly

changed as local volunteers organized into teams and

worked side by side with the Indiana National Guard

and church relief workers to heave sandbags, rescue

residents and set up shelters.

To ensure that the recovery effort wouldn’t fade

from people’s minds after the television crews moved

on, Frick and his staff created Watershed, an online

publication that captured survivors’ stories, honored

volunteers and passed along the lessons learned.

Residents of Columbus struggle to get themselves and their dog to higher
ground. The flood in early June 2008 affected nearly 50 of Indiana’s 92
counties. Heavy rains in the upper Midwest also caused flooding through-
out the summer in Iowa, Wisconsin, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri and
Wisconsin. The IND Fund, established with a $45 million Endowment grant
to the Indiana Association of United Ways, worked quickly with estab-
lished United Ways and community foundations throughout the state.



“One image that stands out in my mind involved a

group of college students who volunteered to tear down

a badly damaged house,” says Stacey McArthur, the

writer and editor responsible for crisscrossing the state

and collecting Watershed stories. The homeowner,

standing on the sidelines, began to cry as she watched

her home reduced to rubble. “The students stopped

what they were doing and gathered around to comfort

and assure her that everything would be okay,” recalls

McArthur. “The woman had very little money but was

so touched by the students’ kindness that on several

mornings afterward, she returned to treat them to

coffee and doughnuts during their break.”

To make stories such as these “extraordinarily real

to some of us who were just touching the disaster

administratively,” Frick scheduled a “day of caring” for

his Indianapolis office staff. A dozen IAUW employees

headed for Morgan County (about 60 miles south of

Indianapolis) in September to sort and distribute

household items and help a resident pry several layers

of water-soaked flooring from his home and kill the

mold beneath it. “It was dirty, nasty work,” says Frick,

who came back to Indianapolis with sobering images in

mind and the tattered T-shirt that reminds him of

struggles facing flood victims every day.

Overcoming ‘flood fatigue’

Full recovery is still months away for many

Hoosiers, particularly those served by LARRI—

the Lakeshore Area Regional Recovery of Indiana—in

Lake, Porter and LaPorte counties in Northwest Indiana.

The organization was formed in response to the floods

of September 2008 that caused 18,000 families to reg-

ister with FEMA. 

As devastating as the damage was, the area had two

factors working in its favor. First, the three local United

Way agencies that were instrumental in convening

LARRI had collaborated before to create the regional

volunteer center that proved a vital asset in the flood’s

aftermath. Second, as part of IAUW, LARRI organizers

could ask advice from United Way colleagues around

Indiana who had participated recently in similar relief

and recovery initiatives.

“Other groups were about six months ahead of us, so

we had the advantage of talking to them about how to

8 Lilly Endowment Inc. Annual Report 2009

Farmhouses and outbuildings were left “high and dry” in many parts of Indiana, and
water washed over major highways. Columbus Regional Hospital (right) was not spared.
Water surged through the basement (destroying a laboratory and pharmacy department)
and into the first floor. Nearly 160 patients were evacuated, and the hospital closed for
five months so repairs could be made. 



set up long-term recovery committees,” says Sharon

Kish, president of the United Way of Porter County and

treasurer of LARRI. In spite of the flood fatigue experi-

enced by the many volunteer groups after Katrina and

other floods, teams from AmeriCorps also reported to

northern Indiana for three tours of duty, and faith-

based groups came on short-term mission assignments

from throughout the Midwest and beyond. 

In the early days, LARRI mobilized 4,882 volun-

teers—many from the neighborhoods within the

affected communities. “They’d say, ‘I’m here to work.

Point me in the right direction; I can hammer a nail and

put up drywall,’” recalls Kish. “We stopped calling

them victims of the flood. They’re survivors of the

flood who were determined to rebuild their lives.”

Accelerating the pace

Kish expects LARRI to continue its efforts

through 2010, but other disaster-recovery

groups say they see the end in sight. County coor-

dinators continue to meet with Frick and his staff to

swap stories, commiserate and learn from each other. 

At first, these meetings were structured and often

included training. Recently they’ve become informal

gatherings of friends who have literally weathered a

very bad storm together. “We’ve done a lot of hand-

holding just to get through some of the stuff,” says

Welch. “Having somebody stand beside you and under-

stand what you’re dealing with has been invaluable.”

As Frick reflects on what worked and what didn’t

work, he cites two advantages. The first was having a

network of United Ways and community foundations that

could be mobilized for a quick and efficient response.

“The substantial investment Lilly Endowment has made

for the past two decades in developing United Ways and

community foundations throughout Indiana really paid

off in these relief and recovery efforts,” he says.

The second advantage—having funds available to

address immediate and long-term needs—also greatly

accelerated the pace of recovery. “Often communities

are left to scratch and claw, do bake sales and seek con-

tributions of $5 and $10 to accumulate enough money

to supplement what FEMA does,” says Frick. “Grant

money filled funding gaps and provided the matching

dollars required to qualify for federal grants. In short, it

helped push the process forward. We’ve had national

folks tell us that Indiana recovered at a pace from three to

six months ahead of any other place they had ever seen.”

Mobilizing to rebuild 9

Roger Frick (left), president of IAUW, joins Larry Welker, IAUW treasurer, for a progress check at a
historic home in Franklin built in the 1880s. The flood completely waterlogged the first floor, so they
raised the house 8 feet off the ground to reconstruct it. Welker chaired the 14-member panel that
responded to requests from communities for IND Fund help.



Twelve months later, more than 6,000 households in six counties have benefited from the $8 million col-

laborative effort, to which the Endowment has contributed $6.5 million.

“During our site visits with grantees last year we learned that people who normally don’t ask for help were

seeking assistance for basic needs because of the economy,” explains Betsy Bikoff, vice president and chief grant-

making officer for the Richard M. Fairbanks Foundation, one of the funding partners. “At the same time, donations

to nonprofit organizations were declining.” The idea for CERF took shape after Fairbanks staff and their funding
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Foundations unite
to provide recession relief

To help social service agencies respond to the escalating needs of clients during

the recent recession, several Central Indiana philanthropies—Lilly Endowment among

them—created the Community Economic Relief Fund (CERF) in December 2008.



Community Economic Relief Fund (CERF)
Major contributors:

Central Indiana Community Foundation 
(affiliate and funds)

Efroymson Family Fund

Indianapolis Foundation

Indianapolis Retirement Home Fund

Lilly Endowment 

Lumina Foundation 

Moore Foundation

Nina Mason Pulliam Charitable Trust

Richard M. Fairbanks Foundation

United Way of Central Indiana

colleagues compared notes and determined that the 

situation called for a rapid and unified response.

An initial Endowment grant of $2 million to the

United Way of Central Indiana (UWCI), which admin-

isters CERF, along with grants from several other

funders, helped move the project forward. Within a

month the group had agreed on a mission, allocated

resources, developed a fund-distribution process and

invited 45 social service agencies to submit proposals.

“The funding partners were very specific about their

purpose,” says Christie Gillespie, CERF’s manager and

director of agency services at UWCI. “They wanted to

reach out to families who had immediate needs for

housing, utilities and food. They also wanted to support

agencies that are engaged in hunger-prevention and

homeless-prevention activities.” The availability of

funds had a quick and dramatic impact, as documented

by agency personnel who shared statistics and stories in

a CERF blog supervised by Gillespie.

“So many of our clients are facing home evic-

tions, cars breaking down and utility disconnect

notices while struggling to pay their bills each

month,” wrote Judy House, founder of Fresh Start of

Indiana. “The CERF funds have literally kept a roof

over their heads, put meals on their tables and allowed

them to keep their jobs because they have reliable

transportation to get to and from work each day.”

Agencies confirmed that many families suffered

domino-like hardships—one negative event touching off

a series of equally negative events. As an example,

persons who lose jobs also lose health insurance cov-

erage, which means they can’t afford their medications,

which can lead to serious consequences. These sorts of

challenges also can cause families to break apart;

domestic abuse and conflict tend to increase in time of

financial distress.  Accordingly, CERF funds also have

been used for mental health counseling to help keep

families together.

Another phenomenon: Many agencies have seen a

surge in clients who have never applied for public assis-

Foundations unite 11

tance and are unfamiliar with the process. “There’s a lot

of pride and shame associated with it for some families,

and so they often wait until the very last minute to ask

for help,” says Gillespie. “They have no idea how the

system works. They don’t realize that the longer they

wait the fewer options they have.”

To acquaint newcomers with the scope of services

available through CERF, a portion of the fund was ear-

marked for an awareness campaign. The communication

effort gained momentum when local media outlets

donated an estimated $250,000 worth of exposure to

the cause. The key message—“Get help. Don’t wait. Call

2-1-1”—was accompanied by an illustration of a row of

dominos, each depicting a reason that a client might

seek help. These included the pressing needs that the

philanthropic partners had agreed to address during

their early discussions: housing, utilities and food.

“One of the unique aspects of our community is the

closeness and communication among its funders,” says

Ellen Annala, UWCI president. “These philanthropies

altered their normal giving practices and added to the

support they regularly give to United Way to participate

in this fund. They all stepped up because they under-

stood the need was extraordinary.”

OPPOSITE: Myron K. Richardson, executive director of Flanner House in Indianapolis, looks over 
a picture book with youngsters and gets some special commentary from 4-year-old Erin Lloyd.
Recession was the spur that helped Indianapolis-area foundations set up a special fund so social
agencies wouldn’t close and people could get help in “the system.”
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Rising unemployment rates, consistently above the state

and U.S. averages, as well as declining wages and personal

incomes, signaled an oncoming crisis. The local economy

depended on traditional manufacturing jobs—an increas-

ingly precarious basis for sustaining any community—with

a workforce largely unprepared for anything else.

All of Northeast Indiana—an 11-county area that

encompasses urban Fort Wayne as well as rural areas

like the picturesque Amish country of LaGrange

County—has seen hard times.

“One key statistic that had many leaders concerned

was that over the last 20 years our region had fallen

behind in terms of per capita income compared to the

rest of the country,” explains David J. Bennett, exec-

utive director of the Community Foundation of Greater

Fort Wayne. “The loss of personal income doesn’t bode

well for our region.”

Fort Wayne’s Community Foundation Promotes Both

or years—long before the most recent eco-

nomic recession—many in the Fort Wayne

area could see the trend. It wasn’t pretty. 

In the mid-20th century, thanks to major

manufacturers who provided good salaries and

benefits to workers, the region had a high level

of per capita income. But by the 1980s those

good times were fading into memory as Rust

Belt reality hit home, not just for Northeast Indi-

ana, but also for neighboring communities and

through much of the Great Lakes region of the

United States.

Bruce Menshy, director of operations for Raytheon Co. in Fort Wayne, is also a project partner for 
the education initiative that aims for a workforce with possibilities of finding a future in Northeast 
Indiana’s crowded defense and aerospace industries. OPPOSITE: David J. Bennett (center), executive
director of the Community Foundation of Greater Fort Wayne, and Leonard Helfrich (right), executive 
director of the $20 million TOpS initiative, confer with Dennis Sherman, professor of advanced 
manufacturing in the New Technology Center on the Ivy Tech-Northeast campus. 
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A trend that took decades to build can’t be reversed

overnight, but Community Partnerships, an affiliate of

Fort Wayne’s community foundation, along with the

Northeast Indiana Foundation and a broad base of

partners in industry, education, economic development

and government, are working on a long-term strategic

solution called Talent Opportunity Success 2015

(TOpS), also known as the Talent Initiative.

With a three-year, $20 million grant from Lilly

Endowment, TOpS is designed to help enable the

region to take fuller advantage of the strength it has in

the defense and aerospace industries. The grant funds

will be used largely to upgrade the region’s human

capital by developing and fostering a better-educated

and trained workforce.

Capitalizing on community foundations

Through five phases and nearly 19 years of the

Endowment initiative called Giving Indiana Funds for

Tomorrow (GIFT), the number of community founda-

tions in Indiana has increased from approximately 

12 in 1990 to at least one in each of Indiana’s 92

counties. To encourage community foundations to 

play more central roles in community advancement,

the Endowment in 2007 began asking community foun-

dations in selected areas of the state to think about

whether there were compelling opportunities in their

regions that they could help exploit if the Endowment

provided funding to do so.

The Endowment made its first grant to support

such an endeavor late in 2007 in Columbus, Ind.—a 

$38 million initiative called Economic Opportunities

2015. The grantees—the Heritage Fund of Bartholomew

County and the Columbus Learning Center Management

Corp.—and their community partners in education and

economic development are capitalizing on the

presence of manufacturers like Cummins and Honda

Motor Co. to raise the educational attainment and eco-

nomic status of the region’s residents by preparing a new

generation and retraining many in the existing work-

force for high-skilled jobs in advanced manufacturing.

Like the Columbus area, Northeast

Indiana has economic challenges, but it

also has opportunities to grow its economy.

“Before this initiative came along, we really

didn’t see anything to stop the downward

trend,” Bennett says. “The Endowment

grant is really a strategic, long-term

investment in Northeast Indiana.”

Building a pipeline of talent

As its centerpiece, TOpS calls for

leveraging the region’s significant defense

and aerospace industry cluster, which

boasts more than 160 contractors and

suppliers. Despite the general economic

downturn, this industry cluster has continued to grow in

Northeast Indiana, with $2 billion in U.S. Department

of Defense contracts in 2005-06 and the potential for

5,000 new and replacement high-tech, high-wage jobs

for the region during the next five years.

Defense and aerospace contractors BAE Systems,

General Dynamics, ITT Communications Systems,

Northrop Grumman and Ultra Electronics are already

among the area’s largest employers, with at least 

4,300 systems and software engineers, managers, 
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technicians and other highly educated workers.

“The nature of the business means that the

Northeast Indiana cluster has operated a bit

under the radar,” says Bennett, a lifelong Fort

Wayne resident who admits that he was surprised by

just how much muscle there was in the defense

industry’s local impact.

“Lilly Endowment encouraged us to do our

homework and determine what our most compelling

opportunities and needs were,” says Bennett. He and

his colleagues had countless conversations with business,

education and civic leaders in the region, studied a

variety of reports on economic and demographic data,

consulted state leaders and representatives of Conexus,

the state’s advanced manufacturing and logistics 

initiative conducted under the auspices of the Central

Indiana Corporate Partnership Foundation and partially

funded by the Endowment. “When our region’s 

leaders looked at the statistics and considered all the

other input we received, we realized that the defense

and aerospace industry was the obvious focus for our

initiative,” he says.

“For a region our size to have the industry we have,

it’s really rather amazing,” says Bruce Menshy, a TOpS

project partner and director of operations for Raytheon

Co., an international defense and aerospace contractor

with 75,000 employees worldwide, including 1,200 

in Fort Wayne.

Employees in the defense industry in Fort Wayne

are important players in U.S. defense efforts worldwide,

according to Menshy. Engineers at either Raytheon or

ITT designed much of the tactical communications

technology used by the U.S. military in Iraq and

Afghanistan, he notes.

When they are pondering expansion, companies

like Raytheon factor in the availability of talent in the

areas to be developed, Menshy says. In many cases, 

it’s not “if” defense and aerospace contractors are

expanding, but just where those jobs will land.

“They put them where they can find the talent,”

Menshy says. “The Fort Wayne region must continue to

develop its talent base if it hopes to have competitive

differentiation with other places. Like every other

employer, we in the defense industry are dealing with

demographic issues—an aging baby boomer base of

employees—and we need to ensure that we have a

pipeline of talent coming in.”

To feed that pipeline, the architects of the initiative

chose to focus on four strategies: 

m retrain the existing adult workforce for advanced

manufacturing jobs;

m enhance advanced manufacturing programs at 

Ivy Tech Community College-Northeast;

m develop engineering talent for the region at

Indiana University-Purdue University at Fort

Wayne (IPFW);

m prepare K-12 students for a knowledge-based

economy.

Since the Endowment grant was approved in

early 2009, significant progress has been made, says

Leonard Helfrich, a Fort Wayne attorney hired in

September as executive director of the initiative.

“Our most immediate need is to upgrade the work-

force,” says Helfrich. “We have people out of work now

who have a background in manufacturing, but they

must upgrade their skills. While these programs have

A high-five for Lakeland High School: Teacher Stephanie Burdick (left) and Risa Herber, Lakeland
superintendent, look forward to fall 2010 when the rural school in LaGrange County will become
Leading EDGE (Engage, Develop, Grow, Excel), a New Tech high school. Grant funding will help 
establish five New Tech high schools in Northeast Indiana with concentration in a science, tech-
nology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) curriculum. 



working in manufacturing of one type or another, 

but their jobs may have disappeared or are at least in

jeopardy,” Baker says. “Now our community college

can train people proactively for the manufacturing jobs

of tomorrow on cutting-edge equipment.”

At IPFW a $4.5 million share of the Endowment

grant will endow academic chairs in the systems engi-

neering graduate program and at the Wireless

Technology Center, where the grant also will help

establish a new wireless research lab.

The center—established in 2007 with a gift from

ITT Corp. to help support the local defense industry

with research and teaching activities—is helping raise

Fort Wayne’s profile as a hub of advanced training and

research in wireless technology. 

In 2009 the center hosted a wireless “summer

school” and attracted 82 professionals from the defense

industry as well as students. Business agreements have

been struck with startup companies in the U.S. and

Europe. “The opportunities seem nearly limitless, given

the multibillion dollar wireless communications

Talent plus opportunity 15

been designed with the defense and aerospace indus-

tries in mind, they also are relevant to the needs of

employers in any sector of advanced manufacturing.”

The Endowment grant includes $5.7 million for

retraining adult workers through WorkOne Northeast, 

a state-government agency, with its partners at Ivy 

Tech-Northeast, IPFW and the Indiana Institute of

Technology, a local independent college specializing 

in engineering, computer science and business.

Endowment funds mean that WorkOne can be

more creative in its approach. For example, the agency

has partnered with Ivy Tech to provide unemployed

workers with advanced manufacturing and high-tech

certification in just six or eight weeks. The process

would normally require a semester or two to complete,

Helfrich says.

With its $2.6 million share of the Endowment 

grant, Ivy Tech was able to purchase state-of-the-art

equipment for the advanced manufacturing labs in its

new Technology Center on the Ivy Tech campus. 

It consulted industry leaders to ensure the equipment

was widely used in industry settings, according to

Russell Baker, interim chancellor of Ivy Tech-Northeast.

“We have a lot of people in this area who have been

Helfrich ponders the way forward for the initiative that holds such promise for the 
future of the area’s communities.
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industry. These things would not have happened

without the Lilly Endowment grant,” says Todor

Cooklev, the center’s director.

Giving students the edge

At the other end of the education spectrum, 

$5 million of the Endowment grant for the ini-

tiative is dedicated to K-12 education. It will be

used primarily to establish five New Tech high schools

with concentration in a science, technology, engineering

and mathematics (STEM) curriculum.

New Tech is a national reform

movement that focuses on project-

based learning and encourages the

use of new technologies in solving

problems to teach 21st century

workplace skills. Based on a school

in Napa, Calif., the model has been

replicated in communities across

the country, including some in Indiana.

TOpS calls for at least 1,000 students in five school

systems to be enrolled in certified New Tech high

schools with a STEM emphasis before 2012. When all

the schools are up and running, they will make up the

largest concentration of New Tech schools in Indiana.

Leading the way are urban schools like Wayne High

School in Fort Wayne, which has 100 students already

enrolled in its program, and the rural Lakeland School

Corp. in LaGrange County, which will open its New

Tech school called Leading EDGE (Engage, Develop,

Grow, Excel) in fall 2010.

Receiving funding to

launch the New Tech

high school in LaGrange

County where Amish

buggies are a common

sight and the poverty

rate is above the national

Lakeland High School freshmen got a taste of the New Tech program this year when they made
movies—very short movies—using the technology at hand for filming, writing, editing, producing
and directing. Superintendent Herber (below) agrees to an interview. She, along with teachers
and board members, did outside reading and consulted education leaders at the University of 
Indianapolis about New Tech high schools. 



and state averages is “beyond amazing,” says Risa

Herber, Lakeland School Corp. superintendent.

Students are being introduced to the new curriculum

already during the 2009-10 school year. Beginning in

the fall, 170 freshmen and 170 sophomores started the

new program with the hope that the majority would

earn the Leading EDGE diploma with its emphasis on

STEM. Those who do will receive another bonus: 

12 hours of college credit from any one of four Indiana

colleges and universities.

Herber, school board members and teachers con-

sulted the Endowment-funded Center of Excellence in

Leadership of Learning at the University of Indianapolis,

which offers a range of programs to enhance K-12 

education, including providing technical assistance for

school districts establishing New Tech schools. They

also visited New Tech high schools in California, Texas

and Indiana to better understand the model.

At each school, Herber says she was struck by the

universal enthusiasm of both students and teachers,

although each setting was very different. Herber was

impressed by how students worked together on projects,

used technology with ease, and made presentations 

that showed confidence and the ability to communicate

complicated concepts.

These skills are what students need in the real

world, and they are immediately applicable to the

workplace or to a college

classroom, Herber says. 

Seeds for change

How will Northeast Indiana know

if the initiative is working?

Helfrich says some of the results

will be quantifiable: solid

employment gains, an increase in

the number of students enrolling in engineering 

programs, and a higher per capita income closer to the

national average. Some results will be less easy to

measure but just as important: Do all high school seniors

in the region think they have to leave to have a better life?

Is lifelong learning the expectation, not the exception?

“The Endowment grant is seed money to

change the culture,” Menshy says. “It raises the

bar of student performance and educational

achievement. Not everyone is going to become

an engineer, but there’s no reason why the bar

can’t be raised for everyone.”

This initiative plays to natural strengths of the

region: a good work ethic and a public-minded spirit

that Menshy calls “the Midwestern thing.” In fact, a

group of executives has formed the Northeast Indiana

Defense Industry Association to help support the ini-

tiative and to cooperate for the good of the region.

“It’s our nature to cooperate,” he says. “What we

needed was the impetus to help the community think

more broadly. The Endowment grant is certainly a 

powerful incentive to collaborate and pool resources 

in a way that helps everyone.

“The $20 million is huge, but TOpS’ real potential

won’t be understood for years,” he adds. “Talent drives

business, and that’s what we’re building here.”

Making movies from start to finish captivated 
Lakeland students. New Tech high schools focus on
using technologies in project-based learning.



Kristin Uffelman White and Anthony

Sandusky will probably never meet, but

they share similar life-changing experi-

ences. Both were pursuing their dream

careers—she as a high school English

teacher in Salem, Ore., and he as a 

pre-med student at the University of

Louisville—when each felt the unmis-

takable call to ministry. Their responses

were identical: They tried to ignore it. 

“My life was in place, and it made

absolutely no sense,” recalls White, 

whose family had just moved into a turn-

of-the-century home where “we intended

to put down roots and grow old.”

Some 2,300 miles away, Sandusky 

was equally resistant. The son of a single

mom, he had earned a full scholarship to

college and was determined to become a

physician. Active in a gospel choir, he was

rehearsing the popular chorus “Manifest”

by T.D. Jakes when the song’s familiar

message suddenly took on new meaning.

“I had heard the song over and over,”

says Sandusky, “but this time the words

spoke directly to me.” The lyrics, urging

listeners “to become what God’s

designed you to be,” nudged him to make

a difficult decision.
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He spoke with his pastor, then finished his fresh-

man year at Louisville and transferred to American

Baptist College in Nashville, Tenn., a historically black

institution with limited scholarship opportunities. 

“A lot of my family and friends didn’t understand,”

admits Sandusky, now a graduate student at Vanderbilt 

Divinity School.

White encountered a different reaction when she

approached her family with the notion of a radical

career change. She had decided to abandon the idea if

anyone built a logical case against it. No one did. Her

husband was enthusiastic, even when it meant selling

their historic home and relocating to Evanston, Ill., so

she could enroll at Seabury-Western Theological

Seminary. For further affirmation she talked with an

Episcopal priest and explained her inexplicable urge to

explore ministry. Not an ardent advocate of women in

the priesthood, he asked what she thought it meant. 

“I think I’m called to be a priest,” she said. His

response surprised her: “So do I.”

Like some 6,000 students before them, White and

Sandusky received fellowships from the Fund for

Theological Education (FTE), an Atlanta-based organi-

zation dedicated to strengthening Christian ministry by

helping develop the next generation of church leaders.

A $5 million Endowment grant made this year will

continue to fund FTE fellowships for students at all

levels of postsecondary education, from college juniors

through doctoral candidates. “But this is not simply

about providing fellowships,” explains Trace Haythorn,

president of FTE. “It’s also about building a cohort of

young people and trying to help them imagine their

shared leadership in shaping the future of pastoral min-

istry, congregational leadership and the church itself.”

He speaks of the challenges that seminaries face as

they prepare students for two important tasks: first, to

lead the church as it exists today and, second, to

reshape the church to meet the needs of tomorrow.

“I hear a lot about how pastors must be skilled in

administration, business and marketing, in addition to

all the theological expertise that they must cultivate,”

he says. “But I think that one of the central tasks of pas-

toral leadership for the next decade will involve helping

people grieve the church they once knew and imagine

the church that even now is taking shape. We need

people who are able to draw upon the deepest wisdom

and best resources of the Christian tradition while they

help foster the new life that is already being born

throughout the church today.”

Acquiring the skills

With support from several FTE programs, Sandusky

and White are preparing for the challenges that

OPPOSITE AND BELOW: The Rev. Kristin Uffelman White, once a high-school English teacher in 
Oregon, is now associate rector at the Church of the Holy Spirit in Lake Forest, Ill. A series of 
Endowment-funded programs and scholarships from the Fund for Theological Education eased her
path and still support her young ministry. 



Haythorn describes. An undergraduate FTE fellowship

helped defray college expenses after Sandusky trans-

ferred to American Baptist College, and an FTE

congregational fellowship eased the financial obligation

of his first year at seminary.

An additional benefit of the fellowships was the

opportunity to attend FTE-sponsored Excellence in

Ministry conferences in Alexandria, Va., and Atlanta.

For the first time in his life he was immersed in an ecu-

menical community and surrounded by people very

different from himself. He characterizes the experience

as “phenomenal and amazing.” His world suddenly

expanded to include persons who represented other

denominations, beliefs, cultures and ethnicities.

“We were from diverse backgrounds, but we were all

asking the same questions: What is my call to ministry?

What will the church look like in the future? How

should I prepare for it?” He credits the conferences

with helping him adapt to the international student

body that he joined this fall in the master of divinity

program at Vanderbilt. “The barriers have come down,”

says Sandusky. “I feel I can approach and have a con-

versation with anybody.”

Like Sandusky, White turned to FTE for financial

assistance at Seabury-Western Theological Seminary.

To help her through her first year she applied for a con-

gregational fellowship but doubted she would qualify

for the maximum amount. One criterion of the fel-

lowship is that the applicant’s sponsoring congregation

contributes up to $5,000, which FTE then matches.

Since 60 worshipers constitute a “packed house” at

White’s rural church in Monmouth, Ore., her expecta-

tions were understandably low. The generosity of

members proved her wrong. Their gifts exceeded the

maximum level of support and “one person actually

sold a piece of land and handed me a check,” she says.

That response, plus an FTE ministry fellowship the

following year, enabled her to graduate from seminary

debt-free in 2009.  Now she is associate rector at the

Church of the Holy Spirit in Lake Forest, Ill., where she

shares pastoral responsibilities, oversees the new-

comers’ ministry, works with the church’s Hispanic

partner parish, and supervises a confirmation program

for middle school students.

As a capstone to her preparation, she participates in

the Endowment-supported Transition-into-Ministry

program sponsored by the Episcopal Diocese of Chicago.

Called Making Excellent Disciples, the program offers

her opportunities to interact with a mentor and meet

with a peer group for reflection and continuing edu-

cation. Her schedule is demanding, but she wouldn’t
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Anthony Sandusky thought he wanted to be a doctor, but faith intervened and led him to 
American Baptist College and the chance to attend FTE-sponsored conferences where his world
broadened and brightened. He is now a student at Vanderbilt Divinity School.



have it any other way: “I feel like I’ve been waiting my

whole life to do exactly what I’m doing right now.”

Investing in the church’s future

Besides conducting its own fellowship programs,

FTE has collaborated with Lilly Endowment on three

major initiatives that provide youth and young adults

with opportunities to explore and pursue ministry at

key decision points in their lives. They include activities

that introduce teens to theological inquiry and edu-

cation, college programs that link faith and vocation,

and two-year residencies that help theological school

graduates make the transition to professional ministry.

(See sidebar, page 24.) 

As a result, efforts have attracted widespread par-

ticipation and generated positive results.

mMore than 11,000 teenagers have attended theo-

logical programs sponsored by 49 seminaries and

aimed at high school youth. Endowment funding

for such programs began in 1991 and totaled 

$85 million through 2008. In 2009 the Endowment

added another $12.5 million in grants to schools

that are building additional resources to sustain

their programs into the future.

m 88 private colleges and universities in 29 states

have received grants to create Programs for the

Theological Exploration of Vocation (PTEV) that

encourage undergraduate students to view their

potential careers from a faith perspective and to

consider pastoral ministry as a possibility for

themselves. Renewal grants have brought the

Endowment’s investment in PTEV to $218 million.

m Some 700 new pastors have taken part in

Transition-into-Ministry (TiM) residencies that give

seminary graduates hands-on experience under

the guidance of seasoned mentors. Endowment

grants of $38 million have enabled 30 congrega-

tions and religious organizations to provide

supportive settings where emerging clergy can test

and refine their pastoral leadership skills.

In each initiative, FTE played a crucial role in 

convening key leaders of all the projects in the initiative

on a regular basis. In large conferences and smaller

groupings, they all learned from each other’s work and

provided one another valuable mutual support. A sense

of shared work and common enterprise developed that

is having a much larger cumulative impact.

Although it is too soon to know the long-term

impact of these initiatives, early indications are encour-
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Padre Narciso Diaz of Iglesia Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe in Waukegan rushes to get into 
his collar before he and White greet the visitors of his church to the Church of the Holy Spirit for 
a Christmas get-together. 



aging. According to data gathered by the Association 

of Theological Schools, seminaries have reported a 

40 percent enrollment surge among students ages 20 

to 29 since the launch of the high-school theological 

programs and PTEV. Of the 1,200 ministry students

who have received FTE fellowships in the past decade,

90 percent now serve as pastors or leaders of 

congregations and church-related ministries.

Gathering momentum

Several Endowment-supported programs that

help replenish the ranks of church leadership have

matured, achieved sustainability and produced interesting

and successful offshoots. As an example, Hastings

College, a college associated with the Presbyterian Church

(USA), had only six religion majors when PTEV was intro-

duced on campus. After five years that number had grown

to 42, with at least 10 expressing interest in seminary.

“Student interest in faith-based service has grown

tremendously in recent years,” recalls Haythorn, who

directed the school’s Vocation and Values program

before moving to FTE. “That interest inspired Hastings

to develop a major in peace, justice and social change

within the sociology department. Students involved in

the PTEV program would often major in religion with

an emphasis in Christian ministry while also majoring

in peace, justice and social change, making their own

connections between leadership in the church and the

larger community.”

Michigan’s Calvin College used a portion of its

PTEV grant to create a worship apprentice program to

train undergraduates to lead worship on campus. Other

PTEV funds established the school’s Jubilee Fellows

program that annually recruits 12 students to participate

in rigorous ministry internships, a semester-long academic

seminar. “Roughly two-thirds of our Jubilee Fellows

have either graduated from seminary, are attending

seminary or are planning to enroll in seminary,” says

Shirley Roels, who directed the program in its early
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White’s husband, John, and 11-year-old daughter, Grace, participate in her June ordination in 
St. James Cathedral, Episcopal Diocese of Chicago, which encompasses 41,000 members in 127 
congregations in northern Illinois. 



years. Calvin was so

pleased with the Jubilee

Fellows program that it

raised $1 million to ensure

its future. 

Other schools have

expressed similar satis-

faction with their PTEV

experiences and have taken steps to institutionalize the

initiatives they created. Among the activities of the

national program that they collectively wanted to 

continue were the annual conferences and other joint

activities that, with FTE’s assistance, had allowed 

PTEV participants from across the country to gather

and share best practices. 

Two college presidents approached the Council 

of Independent Colleges (CIC) with the request that 

the organization consider maintaining a new, larger

network that would include not only Endowment-

funded schools but many others as well. An Endowment

grant enabled CIC to test the idea by hosting a VUE

(Vocation in Undergraduate Education) conference in

March. More than 100 campuses (PTEV schools and

others) sent representatives—students, college presi-

dents and faculty—to confirm their interest. As a result

of this overwhelming response, NetVUE was launched

with a $2.4 million grant from the Endowment 

providing partial support.

“The network is meant to deepen the intellectual

and theological substance of vocational exploration,”

explains Roels, who accepted the role of senior adviser

to the project. “We’ll plan regional and national confer-

ences and expand the database that developed during

the PTEV years. We also plan to build a network of

NetVUE consultants so more experienced PTEV

schools can mentor campuses new to the initiative.”

What’s next?

To keep relevant in its pursuit of pastoral excel-

lence, FTE has designed several new programs.

Volunteers Exploring

Vocation is an 

initiative aimed at young

people who have partici-

pated in a faith-based

organization for a year and

now are considering careers

in ministry. Project Rising

Sun is a two-year leadership academy for young pastors

of color who want to have an impact beyond the con-

gregations they serve. Challenges yet to be explored

include the shortage of Hispanics going into ministry

and the dilemma of women who complete their sem-

inary education but drop out of ministry prematurely.

Haythorn believes Lilly Endowment’s 35-year part-

nership with FTE, to which the Endowment has

awarded more than $67 million, has contributed to the

growing number and exemplary caliber of young

persons entering ministry. “We’re hearing from semi-

naries on a consistent basis that the quality of graduates

is on the rise,” he says. “We are encouraged that this

gifted cohort of students from diverse backgrounds will

become precisely the kinds of ministers who can lead

the church faithfully and imaginatively into its

emerging future.”
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ABOVE:White and husband meet with Hispanic partner parishioner while the Rev. Jay Sidebotham
(below), rector of Lake Forest church, and Jessica Creech, children and youth ministries leader, also
meet at the pre-Christmas event. Tiny Ela Creech is probably more into sugar plum fairies. 



Members of the clergy search team at Reformation Lutheran Church in Wichita, Kan., were candid when they

offered Lowell Michelson the position of senior pastor last year. They explained that the congregation was dealing

with the morally and politically contentious issue of abortion. Some families had left the congregation in protest

of the medical practice of Dr. George Tiller, a longtime church member and physician who operated an abortion

clinic, and pro-life advocates occasionally picketed church grounds. “It’s been an issue here for several years,”

says Michelson, who accepted the search committee’s call and joined the staff in August 2008.

lthough this was his first senior leadership

assignment, Michelson was well prepared

for the job. The son of a pastor, he had

majored in religious studies at Wittenberg

University, worked in campus ministry,

graduated from Trinity Lutheran Seminary

and interned at a large Oregon church.

Before relocating to Wichita he had 

participated in Lilly Endowment’s

Transition-into-Ministry (TiM) initiative,

which funds residency programs that help

new pastors make the transition from seminary students

to congregational leaders. He completed his two-year

TiM residency at St. Paul Lutheran Church in Davenport,

Iowa, where he and other program participants worked

closely with their mentor, senior pastor Peter Marty.

“One of the beautiful features of the Transition-into-

Ministry venture is the lifelong friendships that form,”

says Marty. “Two years of pastors mutually wrestling

through challenges and discovering new insights

together forge a bond of trust that’s hard to shake.”

Friendship and tragedy

This bond proved invaluable when tragedy struck nine

months after Michelson began his ministry in Wichita.

During Sunday morning worship on May 31, 2009, a

gunman entered the entrance area of Reformation

Lutheran Church and fatally shot Dr. Tiller while Mrs.

Tiller was in the choir. 
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The national media descended on Wichita, and for

several days Michelson responded to countless media

inquiries as he consoled the grieving family, counseled

his stricken faith community, and prepared to officiate

at the high-profile and emotionally charged funeral. 

Close friends from his TiM residency, now scattered

across the country, rallied in support. 

“My Transition-into-Ministry colleagues and Pastor

Marty know me in ways that nobody else in the world

does,” says Michelson. “They helped me think things

through and kept me in check as no one else could have.”

Encouragement also came from members of St.

Paul Church in the form of phone calls, e-mails and text

messages throughout the summer. A professional ther-

apist made two trips from Davenport to Wichita to

assist Michelson and the ushers most directly affected

by the shooting. “This doesn’t happen when a bond is

shallow,” says Marty, who believes the TiM program

creates the sort of “unity of spirit described in Scripture,

one that doesn’t require the physical proximity of a

fellow believer to remain meaningful.”

With ongoing support from his long-distance

network, Michelson continues to guide his congre-

gation’s healing. “Everyone grieves differently,” he

says. “A lot of folks are still trying to sift through what

happened. Some say, ‘Enough already, let’s move on,’

while others have difficulty reconnecting and ask, 

‘Is this the place for us?’”

A



The sun was just coming up on a spring morning in 2007 when Cory Bourne’s life changed forever.

Bourne was in Iraq, riding in a Humvee with members of his Indiana National Guard unit, when the

vehicle hit a roadside bomb. “There was a blast, and I felt like the Humvee was flying through the

air,” he remembers. “As it turns out, it really was flying through the air.”

As a flash fire engulfed the vehicle, adrenaline kicked in. Despite serious head and back injuries, Bourne

helped other soldiers to safety, an act of bravery that would later be recognized with a Bronze Star. 

During eight months of intense physical and speech therapy, Bourne learned to walk and speak again. But

the Elkhart, Ind., native and graduate of Indiana University’s Herron School of Art came home to a struggling

economy and few job opportunities. “After I was wounded, I didn’t know what I would do next,” he says. 

“My military career was ending. I was broke.”

Honoring their sacrifice 25

Honoring Their Sacrifice
Support for Soldiers

Indiana is far from the frontlines of war in Iraq and Afghanistan, but the conflicts there are

taking a toll here. While Indiana is 15th in the nation in population, it has had the fourth largest number of

National Guard members facing the largest combat troop deployment since World War II. Indianapolis is

home to the Richard L. Roudebush VA Medical Center, which has treated more than 6,600 Iraq and

Afghanistan veterans since 2001. Multiple mobilizations, extended separations and tough economic times

mean that many deployed Hoosier servicemen and women, recent combat veterans and their families are

facing unprecedented financial, family and medical issues that need—and deserve—attention.



Shortly before his military discharge, Bourne

learned about the Crane Learning & Employment

Center for Veterans with Disabilities (CLEC). The

program links returning disabled veterans with jobs at

the Crane Naval Surface Warfare Station Center, the

third largest United States Navy installation in the world,

which is located in Crane, Ind., 20 miles southwest of

Bloomington.

CLEC helped relocate Bourne and his family near

NSA (Naval Support Activity) Crane, where he now

works on anti-weapon systems designed to defeat the

types of remote-control bombs that wounded him in

Iraq. With support from CLEC staff, Bourne enrolled at

Indiana Wesleyan University and is now more than

halfway through a master’s degree program in business

administration.

Three years after he was wounded, Bourne still

feels the impact of the blast on his body and mind, but

he’s gained confidence about the future. “It’s been the

light at the end of the tunnel—a very long, dark tunnel,”

Bourne says. “Now I’m looking forward.”

Initiative to help veterans and families

CLEC is one piece of Lilly Endowment’s

$27.7 million Initiative to Support Indiana Combat

Service Members and Their Families, an effort under-

taken in response to the large-scale mobilization of U.S.

troops in the ongoing war on terrorism.

In addition to CLEC, the initiative provides funding

to the Indiana National Guard Relief Fund, the Military

Family Research Institute (MFRI) at Purdue University

and the Roudebush VA Medical Center.

The initiative includes a $9.9 million grant to

Roudebush for construction of a new Seamless

Transition Integrated Care Clinic, opening in 2010, to

allow veterans a single point of care when they come

for treatment. And in 2011 Roudebush will open a 

28-suite Veterans’ House to provide accommodations

for injured service members being treated at

Roudebush and their families.

Through this initiative, the Endowment honors the

sacrifices made by veterans and their families by

funding efforts that help them as much as possible to

live rewarding and meaningful lives in families that are
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PREVIOUS PAGE: Deployments can displace family equilibrium. Having a parent gone for a
year—or coming back and then leaving again—causes understandable reactions in children.
Staffers at the Military Family Research Institute at Purdue have developed a program that tries
to bring Indiana National Guard families together as soon after deployment ends as possible.
Parents and children concentrate on communication, reduction of stress and problem-solving
skills. ABOVE: Cory Bourne, who survived injuries received when an improvised explosive 
device (IED) hit his Humvee in Iraq, now looks forward by participating in CLEC and completing
his MBA degree.



healthy and supportive. While all the grants recognize

each institution’s strengths, the initiative encourages

the four organizations to work together and with their

communities to address the multiple issues facing

service members and their families.

CLEC, for example, has partnered with NSA Crane,

Roudebush and Indiana colleges and universities since

it was first funded as a pilot project by the Endowment

in 2007. The unique program, which has brought 

30 veterans to NSA Crane so far, was the result of a

brainstorm of disabled veteran Larry McRoberts, a

Vietnam-era United States Navy commander. CLEC 

not only finds jobs for veterans, but it also helps them

obtain educational benefits and assists them with other

costs such as rent and groceries.

“There’s only so much the Department of Defense

and the VA can do,” McRoberts explains. “The gap

between what the government can do for soldiers and

what they need to start a new life is being closed with

help from the Endowment.” 

With a 2009 Endowment grant, CLEC

is set to expand its groundbreaking work

at Crane by opening additional sites in

Indianapolis and at least one other Indiana

city. In doing so, CLEC hopes to attract a

wider base of employers and veterans,

with an eye toward further expansion in

other communities around the country.

There’s no question of need. A 2008

government report noted that 343,835

veterans across the country filed disability claims after

fighting in Iraq or Afghanistan. These veterans often

have to navigate complex health care, education and

workforce bureaucracies to establish new lives.

“Our goal is to become a national model for

helping take veterans from injury to employment,”

says Jim Schonberger. He is the director of Crane

Technology, the Endowment grantee overseeing CLEC. 

Research and relief

After nine years of continuous deployments,

Indiana National Guard members and their families are

familiar with the routine of separations and reunions.

But that doesn’t make it any easier, according to

Shelley MacDermid Wadsworth, director of MFRI,

which has received Endowment grants totaling nearly

$15 million to support its mission of research and out-

reach on issues affecting military families.

Well-documented research shows that financial dif-

ficulties, moving and facing death or serious health

problems cause stress under any circumstances. For

military families, these stress factors are common and

often occur within a very short time frame.

“We have men and women in the National Guard

and Reserves who prepare for deployment and go to

war, then return to civilian life, then prepare for

deployment and war all over again,” MacDermid

Wadsworth says. “These families are doing the very

best they can under very difficult circumstances.”

The downturn in the economy has hit military fam-

ilies hard. “They are returning to jobs

that may not exist anymore,”

MacDermid Wadsworth says. “Formany
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ABOVE: Jim Schonberger (left) is director of Crane Technology, while
Larry McRoberts is the man who invented CLEC. Both have seen CLEC work
at Crane, and they would like to extend the program to other sites in 
Indiana. LEFT: Shelley MacDermid Wadsworth directs the Military Family
Research Institute at Purdue, the leading university-based institute of 
its kind in the country.



families, it is urgent that theyconnectwith help.”

As the leading university-based institute of its kind in

the country, MFRI has become a national clearinghouse

on concerns and needs of military families. MFRI’s

influence extends to the highest levels of government.

The secretary of the Army, the surgeon general of the

Navy, and the leaders of the Air Mobility Command and

the Navy Expeditionary Combat Command have all

sought MFRI’s participation in high-level meetings that

are shaping the future of support for military families.

MFRI’s research was influential in the decision to

extend new Family and Medical Leave Act provisions

for military families to include National Guard and

Reserve families. MacDermid Wadsworth was pleased

to be an invited guest of the White House at the signing

of the 2010 National Defense Authorization Act. 

Last May first lady Michelle Obama and Jill Biden 

convened a meeting of key White House leaders and a

small group of leading military family organizations.

MFRI was the only university-based organization

invited to participate.

Relief and restoration

For many military families, help comes from the

Indiana National Guard Relief Fund, which has

received $2.1 million in Endowment grants since 2004.

The relief fund provides up to $10,000 per year to Indiana

National Guard members or their families who suffer 

significant hardship as a result of active duty in Iraq or

Afghanistan. “Everyone talks about the sacrifices of our

soldiers and airmen, but our families are drafted into

serving, too,” says. Maj. Gen. R. Martin Umbarger,

adjutant general of the Indiana National Guard.

The fund has assisted families with money for

emergency household expenses and—more than a few

times—travel expenses for out-of-town family members

who wanted to attend the funeral of a fallen soldier but

couldn’t afford to make the trip.

Umbarger often presents the relief checks, and he

usually is met with tears of appreciation. “If your car

breaks down and there’s a $650 repair bill while your

spouse is in Iraq or a flood turns the basement into a

muddy mess, it’s very tough,” he says. “If we can help,

it’s just a tremendous blessing to be able to do so.”

Deployment is a strain, but coming home presents

other challenges. One of MFRI’s newest endeavors—

Operation Diploma—aims to strengthen support at

Indiana colleges and universities for military service

members. With a $5.8 million Endowment grant, 

MFRI works with campus groups to ensure that 

veterans succeed as students.

A 2008 MFRI survey of 92 campuses of Indiana

postsecondary institutions indicated that most are

poorly prepared for service members and veterans, 

a population expected to swell as veterans use their 

G.I. Bill benefits. 
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Passport Toward Success participant has written her “coping mechanisms” for dealing with 
the absence of a parent on pieces of paper and put them in her “strengths” box. The program
encourages children to articulate their concerns.



Members of the Indiana National Guard may find

their educations interrupted by deployments. Combat

veterans may face physical and psychological injuries

that complicate pursuit of their educational goals. War

experience causes veterans to bring significantly dif-

ferent needs, attitudes and expectations to college

compared with those of most of their classmates. Their

perspectives, however, may present opportunities for

teaching and learning if faculty and students can tap

into them. “We hope to create new opportunities for

student service members and veterans while fostering a

climate in which veterans don’t stick out like sore

thumbs,” MacDermid Wadsworth says.

Not surprising, MFRI research shows that children are

also profoundly affected by their parents’ military service.

In 2008 MFRI began a partnership with the Indiana

National Guard to offer a reunification exercise especially

for children. During a four-hour Passport Toward Success

program, kids visit three “islands” of activities designed to

get them thinking and communicating.

“We were approached to help develop programming

because there was nothing for children,” explains

Kathy Broniarczyk, outreach director at MFRI. “We

had to think of how we could help kids build their

resiliency. We focus on stress reduction, communi-

cation and problem-solving skills.”

Strengthening relationships

Couples, too, often need to work on their rela-

tionships. With a 2008 Endowment grant,

Roudebush began offering weekend retreats for service

members and their significant others. Operation

Restoration retreats in the hills of southern Indiana are

led by Roudebush clinicians who are experts in stress

management, mutual problem-solving and interper-

sonal communication, according to Robin Paul,

program manager at Roudebush.

Capt. Steve Baunach, a commissioned officer in the

U.S. Army Reserves who lives in West Lafayette with his

wife, Carol, attended an Operation Restoration

weekend in 2009, a few months after his return from an

18-month tour of duty in Afghanistan. “The Department

of Defense is great at training soldiers but not so great

at helping them survive as husbands and wives,” says

Baunach, who will return with his unit for a second tour

in Afghanistan in 2010. “It’s a great program. From a

commander’s standpoint, I’m telling the members of

my unit to look for a Restoration weekend. It’s that

important.” 

Endowment funds allow Roudebush and its

partners in the initiative to provide care and programs

that are vital in caring for service members, combat

veterans and their families, according to Thomas

Mattice, medical center director at Roudebush. “It is

gratifying to work with such caring and committed

partners who are always willing to go the extra mile to

benefit our veterans and their families,” he says.

The Abel family plays the Rice Bowl event in a Passport Toward Success program. 
Bowls are filled with rice and tiny gold safety pins. The object is to find the most 
pins—just by feeling. Participants can discuss successful strategies and use them in a
second round. BELOW: After completing the Cup Stacking event, the family dissolves
into smiles and hugs. Abel is Lt. Col. Mitchell Abel, Indiana National Guard. He had 
just returned from deployment in Iraq when the family attended the program.
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2009 proved to be another challenging year due to

what many call the most significant economic down-

turn since the Great Depression. Not only did the value

of Lilly Endowment’s assets decline, the impact of the recent

economic crisis continued to be felt by virtually all the

Endowment’s grantees and the individuals and families

they serve. Throughout the year the Endowment strove

to align its grantmaking with the most pressing

needs and compelling causes in community de-

velopment, education and religion—the three

priorities established by its founders.

The Endowment’s founders witnessed

during their lives the kinds of hardship and

despair many are facing in these difficult

times. We are bolstered by their faith in the

future and their care and concern for those

less fortunate, which they demonstrated by

their creation of this foundation in 1937 during the

depths of the Great Depression. Their generosity over

the years has resulted in the payment of more than 

$7.3 billion in grants to 8,033 charitable organizations,

most of them in Indiana. 

Of that $7.3 billion, $3.04 billion supported educa-

tion (42 percent), $2.44 billion supported community

development (33 percent) and $1.82 billion supported

religion (25 percent). At the end of 2009 the Endowment’s

assets totaled $5.3 billion.

During 2009 the Endowment’s Board distributed

grant payments of $276.1 million and approved $282.3

million in new grants. 

Grants paid
Chart 1: Grants Paid by Division

In 2009 the Endowment paid grants of

$276.1 million. In this category

Education Division grants ac-

counted for $126.7 million or

46 percent of the total;

Community Development

Division grants added up

to $76.4 mill ion or 28

percent; Religion Division

grants totaled $73 million

or 26 percent.

As in previous years, most

of the grants were paid to or-

ganizations in Indiana—a total of

$210.5 million (76 percent). Of the payment total of

$276.1 million, $152.2 million (55 percent) was paid to

non-Marion County grantees in Indiana and $58.3 mil-

lion (21 percent) to Marion County (Indianapolis) grantees.

Organizations outside Indiana received $65.6 million or

24 percent, mostly from the Religion Division.

Grants approved
Chart 2: Grants Approved 
by Division

During 2009 the Endowment

approved $282.3 million to

655 grantees, 256 of them

new to the Endowment.

Education Division grants

totaled the most dollars at

$132.9 million or 47 percent of

the total. Approvals for the Com-

munity Development Division totaled

$76.2 million or 27 percent, while approvals for the Re-

ligion Division totaled $73.2 million or 26 percent.

Similar to the geographic distribution of the

grants paid in 2009, over three-fourths (77 percent) of

grants approved went to Indiana organizations. Of the

$282.3 million in grants approved, $158.4 million (56

percent) was approved for non-Marion County grantees

in Indiana and $58.1 million (21 percent) to Marion

County (Indianapolis) grantees. Indiana organizations

thus were awarded $216.5 million (77 percent) of grants

approved. $65.8 million (23 percent) in grants were 

approved for non-Indiana organizations.

Board-approved grants are listed in the back of this re-

port and are divided into the Community Development,

Education and Religion divisions. Youth Programming

and Philanthropic Leadership Education grants are included

with the Education and Religion divisions, respectively.

Discretionary grants of up to $7,500, authorized by the

officers, are listed as a single line item for each division.

The Endowment’s match for the charitable contri-

butions of staff, retirees and Board members is reported

as a single line item before the total of all grants 

approved. “Guidelines & Procedures” are outlined on

pages 50-51.

Finances&Grantmaking

Community 
Development
$76.4 million

Education
$126.7 million

Religion
$73 million

Community 
Development
$76.2 million

Education
$132.9 million

Religion
$73.2 million
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
Lilly Endowment Inc.

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Lilly Endowment Inc. (the Endowment) 
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related statements of activities and changes in unrestricted net assets
and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Endowment’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the 
Endowment’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Endowment’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Lilly Endowment Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the changes in its unrestricted net assets
and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

March 8, 2010
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Assets

Cash and equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         $ 9,027,561              $ 26,662,815

Dividend receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    66,478,694                                           –

Other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  104,159,049                                           –

Investments — at fair value:

Eli Lilly and Company common stock 
(cost — $84,798,379 at December 31, 2009 
and 2008) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               4,844,804,411                     5,463,463,277

Other equity investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  295,712,381                        228,683,724

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       1,346,339                             3,607,133

   $ 5,321,528,435 $ 5,722,416,949

Liabilities

Amounts appropriated for future grants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       $ 10,180,100               $ 3,969,750

Deferred federal excise tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         43,371,489                                            –

   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .           53,551,589                             3,969,750

Unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               5,267,976,846                     5,718,447,199

   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         $ 5,321,528,435               $  5,722,416,949

See accompanying notes.

Statements of Financial Position

As of December 31                                                                   2 0 0 9                     2 0 0 8



Income:

Dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 337,423,715         $ 264,894,950

Interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 199,460                   3,286,921

Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110,396,845                   13,267,121

Total income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 448,020,020                281,448,992

Deductions:

Grants approved . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 286,352,599                314,850,416

Expenses:

   Program support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,848,841                   6,527,047

   Operational support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,824,759                   11,720,543

   Federal excise tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,075,092                      3,491,275

Total grants approved and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 345,101,291                336,589,281

Gain on sale of Eli Lilly and Company
common stock (shares — 0 in 2009 and
1,835,000 in 2008) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . – 87,468,985

Unrealized depreciation of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (553,389,082)    (2,024,837,469)  

Decrease in unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (450,470,353)        (1,992,508,773)

Unrestricted net assets:

Balance at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,718,447,199 7,710,955,972

Decrease in unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (450,470,353)             (1,992,508,773)

Balance at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,267,976,846         $ 5,718,447,199

See accompanying notes.

Statements of Activities and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets

Year ended December 31                                                             2 0 0 9                     2 0 0 8
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Operating activities

Change in unrestricted net assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (450,470,353)            $  (1 ,992,508,773)   

Adjustments to reconcile change in unrestricted net
to net cash used in operating activities:

Investment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 220,685                      245,945

Loss on mark-to-market adjustments on investments . . . . . . . . . 553,372,810                   1,937,027,372

Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Dividend and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .           (170,637,743)                                          –

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   2,260,794                           (3,564,366)

Amount appropriated for future grants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   6,210,350                         (19,977,200)

Deferred federal excise tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 43,371,489                                           –

Net cash used in operating activites . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .              (15,671,968)                       (78,777,022)

Investing activities

Purchases of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                (1,742,601)                       (57,692,851)

Proceeds from sale of investments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                  –                          87,726,554

Investment expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     (220,685)                             (245,945)

Maturities of fixed income securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                  –                          18,943,105

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,963,286)                    48,730,863

Net decrease in cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,635,254)                      (30,046,159)

Cash and equivalents at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,662,815                          56,708,974

Cash and equivalents at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,027,561             $ 26,662,815

See accompanying notes.

Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31                                                             2 0 0 9                     2 0 0 8
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1. Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Organization
Lilly Endowment Inc. (the Endowment) is an Indianapolis-
based, private philanthropic foundation created by three
members of the Lilly family through gifts of stock in their
pharmaceutical business, Eli Lilly and Company. The stock
of Eli Lilly and Company continues to be the Endowment’s
most significant asset. The Endowment supports the causes
of religion, education, and community development. The In-
ternal Revenue Service has determined that the Endowment
is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(a) of
the Internal Revenue Code. It remains a private foundation
subject to federal excise tax on net investment income.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the Unites States (GAAP). Preparation of the financial
statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, li-
abilities, income, expense, and related disclosures at the
date of the financial statements and during the reporting
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 8,
2010, the date these financial statements were issued.

Cash and Equivalents
Investments with original maturities of three months or less
at the time of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents.  

Investments
Investments are stated at fair value in accordance with the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 958, Not for Profit En-
tities. Investments are comprised of equity and fixed income
securities, which are recorded at market-quoted fair values.
Changes in fair value are recorded in the statement of
activities and changes in unrestricted net assets. There are
no restrictions on investments.

Realized gains and losses from the sales of Eli Lilly and
Company common stock are calculated using the first-in,
first-out method of allocating cost.

Facilities and Equipment
Expenditures for facilities and equipment are expensed as
paid. The amounts expensed during 2009 and 2008 are not
material to the financial statements.

Grants
The Endowment primarily makes grants to organizations
that qualify as public charities under the Internal Revenue
Code. When distributions are made to organizations other
than public charities, the Endowment assumes expenditure
responsibility as required under applicable federal law. All
grants are approved by the Board of Directors and are accrued
when approved.

Income Recognition
Income is recognized when amounts are realizable and
earned.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts in the statement of cash flows
have been reclassified to conform to the current year pres-
entation.

2. New Accounting Pronouncements

The Endowment adopted the FASB interpretation on
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes as of December
31, 2009. This interpretation requires that realization of an
uncertain income tax position be more likely than not (i.e.,
greater than 50% likelihood of receiving a benefit) before
it can be recognized in the financial statements. Further-
more, this interpretation prescribes the benefit to be
recorded in the financial statements as the amount most
likely to be realized assuming a review by tax authorities
having all relevant information and applying current conven-
tions. This interpretation also clarifies the financial statement
classification of tax-related penalties and interest and sets
forth new disclosures regarding unrecognized tax benefits.
The implementation of this interpretation had no impact on
the financial statements.

The Endowment adopted the provisions of the FASB State-
ment on Subsequent Events in 2009. This Statement provides
authoritative accounting literature and disclosure require-
ments for material events occurring subsequent to the date
on the statement of financial position and prior to the
issuance of the financial statements. The implementation of
this Statement had no effect on the financial statements.

The Endowment adopted the provisions of the FASB Staff
Position (FSP) relating to Investments on January 1, 2009.
This FSP amends the other-than-temporary recognition
guidance for debt securities and requires additional annual
disclosures of other-than-temporary impairments on debt
and equity securities. Pursuant to the new guidance, an
other-than-temporary impairment has occurred if an entity
does not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis
of the security. In this situation, if the entity does not intend
to sell the impaired security and if it is not more likely than
not to be required to sell the security before the recovery
of its amortized cost basis, the amount of the other-than-
temporary impairment recognized in earnings is limited to
the portion attributed to the credit loss. The remaining portion
of the other-than-temporary impairment is then recorded in
other comprehensive income. This FSP has been applied to
existing and new securities as of January 1, 2009. The im-
plementation of this FSP had no impact on the financial
statements.

Notes to Financial Statements
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3. Required Distributions

The Internal Revenue Code provides that the Endowment
generally must distribute for charitable purposes 5% of the
average market value of its assets. The Endowment must
make additional qualifying distributions of approximately
$214,000,000 before January 1, 2011, to meet the 2009 min-
imum distribution requirements.

4. Other Receivables

Other receivables represent the fair value of future cash
flows to be received from the Endowment’s split-interest
agreements. Amounts recorded are subject to subsequent
changes in fair value, which would be recorded in the state-
ment of activities and changes in unrestricted net assets.

5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Endowment determines fair values based on the framework for measuring fair value under ASC 820, Fair Value 
Measurements. The following table summarizes fair value information at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Fair Value 

Description Cost (Level 1) (Level 2) (Carrying Value)

December 31, 2009

Cash equivalents $          4,999,825 $            4,999,799 $ –  $ 4,999,799

Marketable securities 451,306,332 5,140,516,792 – 5,140,516,792

456,306,157 5,145,516,591 – 5,145,516,59 1

Other receivables – 62,005,783 42,153,266 104,159,049

$      456,306,1 57 $ 5,207,522,374 $        42,153,266 $ 5,249,675,640

December 31, 2008

Cash equivalents $ 9,980,847 $ 9,997,093 $ – $ 9,997,093

Marketable securities 449,563,732 5,692,147,001 – 5,692,147,001

$      459,544,579 $ 5,702,144,094 $ – $ 5,702,144,094

The fair value for marketable and fixed income securities is determined using quoted market values. The fair value of
other receivables is based on observable inputs using quoted market values and a combination of a market and income
approach determined based upon future cash flows.

6. Federal Excise Taxes

The Endowment is subject to federal excise taxes imposed
on private foundations at 2%, or at 1% if certain conditions
are met. The excise tax is imposed on net investment in-
come, as defined under federal law, which includes interest,
dividends, and net realized gains on the sale of investments.
The Endowment qualified for a 1% excise tax rate for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. Federal excise tax
paid on realized amounts was $2,703,603 and $3,491,275 for
the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

During 2009, the Endowment recorded an additional liabil-
ity of $43,371,489 for deferred federal excise tax related to
unrealized gains on investments.

If incurred, any interest and penalties would be recorded as
a component of excise tax.  As of December 31, 2009 and
2008, total interest and penalties recognized was $0. 
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Alexxa (with two x’s) Myers, 3, is pretty proud that she
has written her first name for the first time all by herself.
Alexxa and her friends learn and play together at Flanner
House in Indianapolis. 



American Cabaret Theatre
Indianapolis, IN

Transitional support                                                   100,000

American Enterprise Institute for 
Public Policy Research
Washington, DC

General operating support                                        100,000

Arts Council of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       300,000

2010 Art & Soul at the Artsgarden                              87,500

Arts Midwest
Minneapolis, MN

2010 Midwest Arts Conference 
in Indianapolis                                                              30,000

Atlas Economic Research Foundation
Washington, DC

Economic and public policy education 
programs in Latin America                                       500,000

Butler University
Indianapolis, IN

Clowes Hall performance of Carmina Burana            40,000

Central Indiana Corporate Partnership 
Foundation (CICP Foundation)
Indianapolis, IN

Central Indiana Mass Transit Study                            50,000

Coalition for Homeless Intervention 
and Prevention
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       260,000

Community Organizations Legal 
Assistance Project
Indianapolis, IN

General support                                                           35,000

Crane Technology
Bloomington, IN

Continued support for Crane Learning 
and Employment Center for Veterans 
with Disabilities                                                          898,100

Crossroads Rehabilitation Center
Indianapolis, IN

Respite program                                                        644,200

Dance Kaleidoscope
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                        100,000

Transitional support                                                     67,000

Domestic Violence Network of 
Greater Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                        225,000

Economic Club of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                          10,000

Eiteljorg Museum of American Indians 
and Western Art
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       1,147,500

Federalist Society for Law and 
Public Policy Studies
Washington, DC

General operating support                                        150,000

Feeding Indiana’s Hungry
Indianapolis, IN

Preparation and dissemination of emergency 
food supplies throughout Indiana                               40,135

Footlite Musicals
Indianapolis, IN

Engineering study                                                        10,900

Stage rigging                                                             250,000

Foundation for Research on 
Economics and the Environment
Bozeman, MT

General operating support                                         50,000

Freedom House
Washington, DC

General operating support                                        100,000

George Mason University Foundation
Fairfax, VA

Law and Economics Center                                       100,000

Heartland Truly Moving Pictures
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       300,000
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Community Development Division 

Dollar amount approved in 2009



Indiana Association for Community 
Economic Development
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                        125,000

Transitional support                                                    50,000

Indiana Association of United Ways
Indianapolis, IN

Program and operating support                           5,700,000

Indiana Grantmakers Alliance
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                        272,500

Indiana Grantmakers Alliance 
Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

GIFT technical assistance for 2010                           692,300

Internship program for Indiana 
community foundations                                          2,190,000

Indiana Historical Society
Indianapolis, IN

Indiana Experience                                                2,000,000

Indiana Humanities Council
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                        100,000

Indiana National Guard Relief Fund
Indianapolis, IN

Continuing support for Relief Fund and 
Families First Initiative                                              875,000

Indiana Opera Society
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                         123,750

Indiana Repertory Theatre
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       300,000

Indiana Sports Corp.
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       500,000

Indiana Symphony Society
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                      1,237,500

Indiana University Foundation
Bloomington, IN

Maintenance, repair and renovation of 
Sunset Lane properties                                           5,156,394

Transitional support for Information for 
Indiana initiative and STATS Web site                      750,000

Indiana White River State Park 
Development Commission
Indianapolis, IN

2009 Family Arts Series                                             50,000

2010 Family Arts Series                                              50,000

Indianapolis Art Center
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       200,000

Transition expenses                                                   125,000

Indianapolis Chamber Orchestra
Indianapolis, IN

Promotional video project                                          20,000

Indianapolis Children’s Choir
Indianapolis, IN

25th anniversary celebration activities                      50,000

Indianapolis Jazz Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Indy Jazz Fest                                                              50,000

Indianapolis Museum of Art
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       500,000

Indianapolis Neighborhood 
Housing Partnership
Indianapolis, IN

General support                                                     6,300,000

Indianapolis Neighborhood 
Resource Center
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       250,000

Indianapolis Parks Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Indianapolis parks capital projects                        7,325,000

Indianapolis Zoological Society
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                     1,1 16 ,720

Institute for Research on the 
Economics of Taxation
Washington, DC

General operating support                                          85,000

Intercollegiate Studies Institute
Wilmington, DE

General operating support                                        125,000
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International Center of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       500,000

John P. Craine House
Indianapolis, IN

Support for work-release program for female 
offenders and their young children                            45,650

Keep Indianapolis Beautiful
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                        325,000

Kosciusko County Community 
Foundation
Warsaw, IN

OrthoWorx initiative                                              7,000,000

Lincoln Endowment
Fort Wayne, IN

“Lincoln in Indiana” campaign to support 
purchase of Lincoln Collection artifacts for 
Indiana citizens                                                      3,000,000

Local Initiatives Support Corp.
New York, NY

Indianapolis LISC program                                       500,000

Neighborhood conference in Indianapolis                 10,000

Targeted Community Initiative                                 350,000

Madame Walker Urban Life Center
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       500,000

Support for lecture series                                           45,000

Manhattan Institute for Policy Research
New York, NY

General operating support                                       200,000

Marshall County Community Foundation
Plymouth, IN

Indiana Community Foundation Program 
for Resource Development                                        249,808

National Center for Policy Analysis
Dallas, TX

General operating support                                        150,000

Nature Conservancy
Arlington, VA

Headquarters project                                             1,000,000

New Harmony Project
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                         50,000

Property and Environment 
Research Center
Bozeman, MT

General operating support                                         50,000

Sagamore Institute for Policy 
Research
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       300,000

Social Philosophy and Policy 
Foundation
Bowling Green, OH

General operating support                                        100,000

Tax Foundation
Washington, DC

General operating support                                          75,000

United Way of Central Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

2009 Campaign                                                      3,750,000

Continuation of Social Assets  
and Vulnerabilities Indicators (SAVI),  
a community information system                            200,000

Continued support for Capital 
Projects Fund                                                        10,000,000

Supplemental support for Community 
Econonmic Relief Fund (CERF)                             1,500,000

Supplemental support for CERF                            1,000,000

Supplemental support for CERF                           2,000,000

Targeted Initiatives Fund                                          550,000

University of Southern Indiana
Evansville, IN

General operating support for Historic 
New Harmony project                                                125,000

Young Audiences of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

General operating support                                       200,000

Holiday Assistance Fund

(23 grants ranging from $2,200 to $135,000)       400,000

Catholic Charities Indianapolis

Community Action of Greater Indianapolis                           

Concerns of Police Survivors                                                   

Flanner House                                                                           

Hall Temple Church of God in Christ                                       

Indiana Black Expo                                                                  

Indianapolis Jaycee Charities                                                  

Indianapolis Public Housing Agency                                      

Indianapolis Urban League                                                      

Jerusalem Christian Center                                                     

Kingsley Terrace Church of Christ                                           
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La Plaza                                                                                     

Latino Community Development Corp.                                  

Latter House Foundation                                                         

Life Line Community Center                                                    

Lutheran Child & Family Services of Indiana                         

New Covenant Church & Ministries                                         

Project Concern Indianapolis                                                  

Rev. Richard Hunter Ministries                                                

Salvation Army                                                                         

Save the Youth                                                                          

United Way of Central Indiana                                                

Westminster Neighborhood Ministries                                   

Central Indiana Corporate Partnership 
Foundation (CICP Foundation)
Indianapolis, IN

I-STEM Resource Network                                     2,000,000

Workforce development and educational
aspects of Advanced Manufacturing 
and Logistics (Conexus)                                        3,445,000

College Mentors for Kids
Indianapolis, IN

Capacity building                                                        50,000

Community Partnerships
Fort Wayne, IN

Talent Opportunity Success 2015                       20,000,000

Fund for Hoosier Excellence
Indianapolis, IN

Endowment for scholarship program                        50,000

Girls Inc.
New York, NY

Support for executive search                                      25,000

Independent Colleges of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Administration of Lilly Endowment 
Community Scholarship Program                         1,200,000

Lilly Endowment Community Scholarship 
Program for 2010                                                 16,500,000

Indiana State University
Terre Haute, IN

ExtendingTeacherCreativity2010:ASummer
Workshop for Teacher Creativity Fellows               1 3 1 ,690
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Subtotal
Community Development Division Grants          76,089,957

Subtotal
Community Development Division 
Discretionary Grants                                                    93,250

Total
Community Development Division Grants           76,183,207

Indiana State University Foundation
Terre Haute, IN

Transitional support for Networks 
Financial Institute                                                  6,000,000

Indiana Student Financial 
Aid Association
Bloomington, IN

College Goal Sunday 2010                                          50,000

Indiana University Foundation
Bloomington, IN

Translational Science Initiative at Indiana 
University School of Medicine                            60,000,000

Indy Reads
Indianapolis, IN

Capacity building                                                        50,000

Rose-Hulman Institute of Technology
Terre Haute, IN

Support for collaboration between 
Rose-Hulman and Ivy Tech to provide 
high-quality internships                                             375,000

United Negro College Fund
Fairfax, VA

Support for UNCF Indiana Campaign                         85,000

University of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Supplemental support for Center of 
Excellence in Leadership of Learning                   7,498,000

Dollar amount approved in 2009

Education Division and Youth Programming 



Indianapolis Private Industry Council
Indianapolis, IN

Continuing support for Youth Employment 
Services program                                                    2,310,000

Jefferson Awards for Public Service
Wilmington, DE

Youth Service Initiative in Indianapolis                   300,000

Marion County Commission on Youth
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                      210,000

National Summer Learning Association
Baltimore, MD

Support for 2010 national conference 
in Indianapolis                                                              50,000

National Urban Fellows
New York, NY

Support for the National Urban Fellows 
in Indianapolis and NUF recruitment 
and fundraising                                                           132,000

100 Black Men of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

25th anniversary initiative                                           25,000

Planned Parenthood of Indiana
Indianapolis, IN

Peer Education Program                                              40,919

Reach for Youth
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support, technical assistance 
and Teen Court program                                             50,000

Ronald McDonald House
Indianapolis, IN

Security, lighting and telephone 
system updates                                                            50,000

Search Institute
Minneapolis, MN

Scholarships and youth program at 
2009 Healthy Communities Conference 
in Cincinnati                                                                 50,000

Shepherd Community
Indianapolis, IN

Organizational capacity building                             750,000

Summer Youth Program Fund

Grants for organizations to provide 
summer activities for youth

(149 competitive grants to support 173 
programs ranging from $1,000 to $85,840)          1,363,923
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Teacher Creativity Distinguished Fellows Program

Competitive program for renewal of Indiana 
schoolteachers, guidance counselors and library 
media specialists whose renewal programs require 
additional financial support and time away from
the classroom. Each teacher receives up to 
$25,000, and a separate grant is available to the 
teacher’s school district to cover the costs of a 
replacement teacher if necessary.

(9 grants ranging from $24,343 to 
$25,000 for distinguished fellows)                           224,343

(4 grants ranging from $600 to $13,600 
for teacher-replacement costs)                                    19,495

Teacher Creativity Fellowship Program

Competitive summer program for renewal of 
Indiana schoolteachers, principals and assistant 
principals, guidance counselors and library 
media specialists

(120 grants at $8,000 each)                                     960,000

YOUTH PROGRAMMING

Center for Leadership Development
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                     275,000

Children’s Bureau
Indianapolis, IN

Support for communications and technology 
upgrades and public relations consulting               250,000

Fathers and Families Resource/
Research Center
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                     250,000

Indiana Black Expo
Indianapolis, IN

Operating support                                                     625,000

Indiana Youth Institute
Indianapolis, IN

Continuation of the College and 
Career Counseling Initiative                                   1 ,453,687

Operating support                                                  5,000,000

Indiana Youth Services Association
Indianapolis, IN

Organizational capacity building and 
Project Safe Places program expansion                   424,509

Indianapolis Art Center
Indianapolis, IN

Continuing support for SMART and 
Beyond Perceptions youth programs                        35,000



Adult & Child Center                                                                

Alpha Foundation for the Youth                                             

American Diabetes Association, 
Indiana Affiliate                                                                        

Antioch Neighborhood Restoration 
& Outreach Ministry                                                                  

Art With a Heart                                                                       

Asante Children’s Theatre                                                       

At-Your-School (AYS) Child Services                                      

Auntie Mame’s Child Development Center                            

Bethesda Temple Apostolic Church                                        

Booth Tarkington Civic Theatre                                              

Bosma Industries for the Blind                                                

Boys & Girls Clubs of Indianapolis (5)                                    

Broadway United Methodist Church                                       

Brookside Community Youth Program                                   

Butler University                                                                       

Calvary Temple of Indianapolis                                               

Camp Kesem                                                                             

Camptown                                                                                 

Care for Kids Foundation                                                        

Catholic Charities Indianapolis (2)                                         

Catholic Youth Organization                                                   

Children’s Bureau                                                                     

Christamore House                                                                   

Circle City Frontiers Club                                                        

Claude McNeal’s Musical Theatre 
Training Program                                                                      

Coburn Place Safe Haven                                                        

Community Action of Greater Indianapolis                           

Community Alliance of the Far 
Eastside (CAFE)                                                                       

Concord Center Association                                                   

Coppin Chapel African Methodist 
Episcopal Church                                                                     

Cosmo Knights Scholarship Fund                                           

Crossroads Rehabilitation Center                                           

Damar Services                                                                         

Dance Kaleidoscope                                                                

Day Nursery Association of Indianapolis                               

Dayspring Center                                                                     

Diabetic Youth Foundation of Indiana                                    

Dirty Dozen Hunting and Fishing Club                                   

DREAM Alive                                                                             

Dyslexia Institute of Indiana                                                    

East 10th United Methodist Children 
and Youth Center                                                                      

Ebenezer Missionary Baptist Church                                      

Edna Martin Christian Center                                                  

Englishton Park Presbyterian Ministries                                 

Fay Biccard Glick Neighborhood Center 
at Crooked Creek                                                                     

Felege Hiywot Ethiopian Orthodox 
Tewahido Church Children Welfare and 
Development Center                                                                

First-Meridian Heights Presbyterian Church (2)                    

Flanner House                                                                           

Fletcher Place Community Center                                          

Forest Manor Multi-Service Center                                         

Freetown Village                                                                      

Friends of Holliday Park                                                          

Garden City Christian Church                                                  

Girl Scouts of Central Indiana                                                 

Girls Inc. (2)                                                                              

Good News Mission                                                                  

Goodwill Industries of Central Indiana                                   

Great Commission Church of God                                          

Greater Faith Apostolic Church                                              

Happy Hollow Children’s Camp                                              

Harrison Center for the Arts                                                    

Hawthorne Social Service Association                                   

Hear Indiana                                                                             

Heart of Sailing                                                                        

Hemophilia of Indiana                                                              

Horizons Urban Student Enrichment Program                      

Indiana Deaf Camps Foundation                                             

Indiana Golf Foundation                                                          

Indiana Juvenile Justice Task Force                                       

Indiana Minority Health Coalition                                           

Indiana School for the Deaf                                                     

Indiana Sports Corp.                                                                

Indiana State Museum Foundation                                         

Indiana University Foundation (2)                                          

Indianapolis Algebra Project                                                   

Indianapolis Art Center                                                            

Indianapolis Junior Golf Foundation                                      

Indianapolis-Marion County Public 
Library Foundation                                                                  

Indianapolis Parks Foundation (4)                                         

Indianapolis Public Housing Agency                                      

Indianapolis Public Schools                                                     

Inquisitive Kids                                                                         

James Whitcomb Riley Memorial 
Association (dba Riley Children’s Foundation)                     

Jameson Camp                                                                         

Jerusalem Christian Center                                                     

John H. Boner Community Center                                          

Julian Center                                                                             

Keep Indianapolis Beautiful                                                    

La Plaza                                                                                     

Lawrence United Methodist Church                                        

Life Line Community Center                                                    

Little Red Door Cancer Agency                                              

Lutheran Child & Family Services of Indiana                         

Marian University                                                                      

Marion County Commission on Youth (2)                              

Martin Luther King Multi-Service Center (2)                          

Mary Rigg Neighborhood Center                                            

Metro Ministries (2)                                                                  

Metropolitan School District of Perry Township                    

Metropolitan School District of Pike Township                      

Metropolitan School District of Washington 
Township                                                                                   

Mission Indy                                                                              
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Montessori Educational Charity                                              

Muscular Dystrophy Association                                             

National Junior Tennis League of Indianapolis                      

National Society of Hispanic MBAs                                        

New Covenant Church & Ministries                                         

New Light Christian Church                                                     

Noble of Indiana                                                                       

Northside New Era Community Outreach                              

Nu Corinthian Baptist Church                                                  

Oasis Christian Community Development Corp.                   

Odyssey VistaCare Hospice Foundation                                

100 Black Men of Indianapolis                                                

PASSWORD Community Mentoring                                        

Pathway to the Future Learning Center                                 

Peace Learning Center                                                             

People’s Burn Foundation                                                       

Philharmonic Orchestra of Indianapolis                                 

Phillips Temple CME Church                                                    

Project SEED                                                                            

Promise Land Christian Community Church                          

Purdue University                                                                     

Redeemer Hospitality Mission                                                 

Ruth Lilly Center for Health Education                                   

St. Florian Center                                                                     

St. John’s Community Care Services                                      

St. Vincent Hospital Foundation                                             

Salvation Army (2)                                                                   

Save the Youth                                                                          

Say Yes                                                                                      

Second Baptist Church                                                            

Senior Connects Corp. (dba Net Literacy Corp.)                   

Shepherd Community                                                              

Social Health Association of Indiana                                      

Southeast Community Services                                              

Speedway Baptist Church                                                       

Speedway United Methodist Church                                      

University of Notre Dame                                                        

Uriel Ministries                                                                          

Victory Inner-City Ministries                                                    

VSA Arts of Indiana                                                                  

Westminster Neighborhood Ministries                                   

YMCA of Indianapolis (10)                                                       

Young Audiences of Indiana                                                    

Young Life (Indianapolis)                                                        

Youth Job Preparedness Program                                          

Y-Press                                                                                      

Zion Hill Missionary Baptist Church                                        

Summer Youth Program Fund

Capital project grants for organizations 
to improve capacity to conduct 
summer programs

(24 competitive grants ranging from 
$1,795 to $25,000)                                                     436,077

Art With a Heart                                                                       

Brookside Community Youth Program                                   

Butler University                                                                       

Camptown                                                                                 

Catholic Charities Indianapolis                                               

Coburn Place Safe Haven                                                        

Concord Center Association                                                   

Dyslexia Institute of Indiana                                                    

Ebenezer Missionary Baptist Church                                      

Edna Martin Christian Center                                                  

Felege Hiywot Ethiopian Orthodox 
Tewahido Church Children Welfare and 
Development Center                                                                

Happy Hollow Children’s Camp                                              

Indianapolis-Marion County Public 
Library Foundation                                                                  

Martin Luther King Multi-Service Center                                

Metro Ministries                                                                        

National Junior Tennis League of Indianapolis                      

New Light Christian Church                                                     

100 Black Men of Indianapolis                                                

Pathway to the Future Learning Center                                 

St. John’s Community Care Services                                      

Shepherd Community                                                              

Southeast Community Services                                              

Speedway United Methodist Church                                      

Zion Hill Missionary Baptist Church                                        

Subtotal
Education Division Grants                                   118,663,528

Subtotal
Youth Programming Grants                                   14,081, 115

Subtotal
Education Division Discretionary Grants                  140,340

Total
Education Division and Youth 
Programming Grants                                            132,884,983
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Asociacionpara laEducationTeologicaHispana
Austin, TX

Project to build organizational 
fundraising capacity                                                    50,000

Association of Theological Schools
Pittsburgh, PA

Project to assist theological schools in 
financial stress                                                           850,000

Auburn Theological Seminary
New York, NY

Doctoral study project                                                 49,005

Project on paths students take to seminary
and the ministry                                                          771,599

Bangor Theological Seminary
Bangor, ME

History of theological education project                   138,875

Center for Youth Ministry Training
Brentwood, TN

Continuing support for Laboratory for 
Youth Ministry project                                               530,445

Children’s Museum of Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Feasibility study for exhibit about key 
religions of the world                                                  24,000

Church Federation of Greater Indianapolis
Indianapolis, IN

Support for Benevolence Fund and 
Congregational Mentoring Program                         150,000

City Seminary of New York
New York, NY

Ministry Fellows Program                                          498,350

Council of Independent Colleges
Washington, DC

Support for the Network for Vocation 
in Undergraduate Education project                      2,394,651

Duke University
Durham, NC

Planning for research project on financial 
decision-making in congregations                             49,999

Eastern Cluster of Lutheran Seminaries
Gettysburg, PA

Partial continued funding of Project 
Connect: A Making Connections 
Initiative project                                                     1,500,000

Educational Broadcasting Corp.
New York, NY

Support for 13th season of Religion 
& Ethics NewsWeekly                                             5,750,000

Evangelical Lutheran Church in America
Chicago, IL

Seminary student debt-reduction initiative             996,585

Fund for Theological Education
Atlanta, GA

Continuing support for FTE programs                 5,000,000

In Trust
Wilmington, DE

General support                                                         250,000

Indiana University Foundation
Bloomington, IN

Support for Religion and American 
Culture conference                                                      25,000

Indianapolis Center for Congregations
Indianapolis, IN

Continued support for regional centers 
for congregations in Indiana                                 6,000,000

Institute for Ecumenical and 
Cultural Research
Collegeville, MN

Collegeville Seminars                                             1,982,2 1 9

Interdenominational Theological Center
Atlanta, GA

Support for presidential search                                  50,000

Interfaith Youth Core
Chicago, IL

Support for increasing partnerships 
and leadership development                                   600,000

Luther Seminary
St. Paul, MN

Vibrant Congregations project                              1,624,920

Morehouse College
Atlanta, GA

Planning for WorldHouse Initiative project               50,000

Support for WorldHouse Initiative 
Realized project                                                     2,000,000
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Pennsylvania State University
University Park, PA

Continuation of the Association of 
Religion Data Archives project                               1 ,122,024

Texas Annual Conference United 
Methodist Church
Houston, TX

Advancing Pastoral Leadership project                2,000,000

University of Notre Dame
Notre Dame, IN

Continuation of National Study of 
Youth and Religion project                                        779,898

Research project on pastoral well-being                  529,317

Valparaiso University
Valparaiso, IN

Continued support for Lilly Graduate 
Fellows Program                                                      1,348,853

Clergy Renewal Program for 
Indiana Congregations

Program to strengthen Indiana congregations 
by supporting renewal and reflection 
periods for pastors

(30 grants ranging from $26,030 to $50,000)      1,419,273

Ahavath Achim Temple Israel (Reformed Jewish), 
West Lafayette                                                                         

Beacon Heights Church of the Brethren, 
Fort Wayne                                                                               

Broadway United Methodist Church, 
Indianapolis                                                                              

Church of the Four Seasons United 
Methodist Church, Crown Point                                              

Coalbush United Methodist Church, Mishawaka                    

CrossRoads Church (Presbyterian Church USA 
[PCUSA]), Westfield                                                                

First Baptist Church (Southern Baptist 
Convention), Griffith                                                                

First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
Mooresville                                                                                

First Mennonite Church, Middlebury                                      

Granger Community Church 
(United Methodist Church)                                                      

Michiana Covenant Presbyterian Church 
(Presbyterian Church in America [PCA]), 
Granger                                                                                     

Morning Star Church (Mennonite), Muncie                             

Mount Tabor Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
New Albany                                                                              

New Joy Lutheran Church (Evangelical 
Lutheran Church in America [ELCA]), 
Westfield                                                                                   

North United Methodist Church, Indianapolis                        

Northminster Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Indianapolis                                                                              

Our Saviour Evangelical Lutheran Church 
(ELCA), West Lafayette                                                           

Redeemer Presbyterian Church (PCA), 
Indianapolis                                                                              

Resurrection Catholic Church, Evansville                               

Rhema Word Ministries (nondenominational), 
Anderson                                                                                  

St. Jude Church (Catholic), Indianapolis                                

St. Lawrence Catholic Church, Lafayette                               

St. Luke’s United Methodist Church, Indianapolis                 

St. Maria Goretti Catholic Church, Westfield                         

St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, Indianapolis                               

St. Paul’s United Church of Christ, Evansville                        

St. Thomas Episcopal Church, Franklin                                  

St. Thomas Lutheran Church (ELCA), Bloomington              

Trinity United Methodist Church, Elkhart                               

Zion United Church of Christ, Indianapolis                            

National Clergy Renewal Grants Program 

Program to strengthen congregations by 
supporting renewal and reflection periods 
for pastors

(149 grants ranging from $15,800 to $50,000)    6,269,270

All Saints Lutheran Church (Evangelical 
Lutheran Church in America [ELCA]), 
Austin, Colo.                                                                             

Annunciation Episcopal Church, Gurnee, Ill.                          

Atonement Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Rapid City, S.D.                                                                         

Basilica of St. Paul (Catholic), 
Daytona Beach, Fla.                                                                 

Bay Area Community Church 
(nondenominational), Annapolis, Md.                                    

Beavercreek (Ore.) United Church of Christ (UCC)               

Bedford (Pa.) Presbyterian Church (Presbyterian 
Church of the USA [PCUSA])                                                  

Cabin John (Md.) United Methodist Church                           

Calvary Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Enfield, Conn.                                                                           

Candlewyck Baptist Church (Southern 
Baptist Convention [SBC]), Charlotte, N.C.                           

Cascade Community Church 
(Baptist General Conference), Monroe, Wash.                       

Cashmere (Wash.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                 

Centennial Covenant Church (Evangelical 
Covenant), Littleton, Colo.                                                      

Central Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
Lexington, Ky.                                                                           

Central Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
Marshalltown, Iowa                                                                  

Central Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Mayfield, N.Y.                                                                             

Christ Episcopal Church, Reading, Pa.                                    

Christ Episcopal Church, Toms River, N.J.                              

Christ Lutheran Church (ELCA), Athens, Ohio                       

Church of the Atonement (Episcopal), 
Tenafly, N.J.                                                                               

Church of the Good Shepherd (Episcopal), 
Hayesville, N.C.                                                                         

Church of the Holy Comforter (Episcopal), 
Montgomery, Ala.                                                                     
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Church of the Wildwood (United Methodist 
Church), Chittenden, Vt.                                                          

Community Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
West Fargo, N.D.                                                                       

Congregation of the Immaculate Conception 
(Catholic), West Bend, Wis.                                                     

Congregational Church (UCC), Vergennes, Vt.                      

Coronado Community United Methodist 
Church, New Smyrna Beach, Fla.                                            

Cristo Rey Church (Catholic), Lansing, Mich.                         

Crossroads Community Church 
(Christian Reformed), Flanders, N.J.                                      

Cypress (Texas) Bible Church (independent)                        

Desert Cross Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Tempe, Ariz.                                                                              

Desert Heritage Church (UCC), Mesa, Ariz.                            

Epiphany Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Rock Hill, S.C.                                                                            

Episcopal Church of the Good Shepherd, 
Norfolk, Va.                                                                               

Evangelical Lutheran Church of the 
Redeemer (ELCA), Minneapolis                                              

Fairfield Christian Church (Christian Churches/
Churches of Christ), Lancaster, Ohio                                      

Fairway Christian Reformed Church, 
Jenison, Mich.                                                                           

Faith Baptist Church (Cooperative Baptist 
Fellowship [CBF]), Georgetown, Ky.                                      

Fellowship Church (Christian Reformed Church), 
Greeley, Colo.                                                                            

First Baptist Church (CBF/SBC), Clinton, N.C.                       

First Baptist Church (CBF), Lexington, N.C.                           

First Baptist Church (SBC), Muskogee, Okla.                        

First Baptist Church, Wheaton, Ill.                                          

First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
Bowling Green, Ky.                                                                   

First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
Weirton, W.Va.                                                                          

First Church (UCC), West Hartford, Conn.                             

First Congregational Church (UCC), Crete, Neb.                   

First Mennonite Church, McPherson, Kan.                              

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Albemarle, N.C.                                                                         

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Lebanon, Ore.                                                                           

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Moorestown, N.J.                                                                      

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Mount Airy, N.C.                                                                        

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
South Charleston, Ohio                                                            

First Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Starkville, Miss.                                                                         

First Presbyterian Church in Germantown 
(PCUSA), Philadelphia                                                             

First United Methodist Church, Durango, Colo.                     

First United Presbyterian Church of Crafton 
Heights (PCUSA), Pittsburgh                                                  

Freedom Plains Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
LaGrangeville, N.Y.                                                                    

Freemason Street Baptist Church (CBF), 
Norfolk, Va.                                                                               

Genesis Church (Evangelical Covenant), 
Cave Creek, Ariz.                                                                      

Glendale Baptist Church (CBF), Nashville, Tenn.                   

Good Shepherd United Church of Christ, 
Cary, N.C.                                                                                   

Grace Christian Church (nondenominational), 
Tinton Falls, N.J.                                                                       

Grace Episcopal Church, Canton, Miss.                                   

Grace Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Beaver Dam, Wis.                                                                     

Grace United Church of Christ, Houston                                

Green’s Farms Church (UCC), Westport, Conn.                     

Heartland Community Church (Christian Reformed
Church), Sioux Falls, S.D.                                                         

Holladay United Church of Christ, Salt Lake City                  

Holy Cross Catholic Church, Nesconset, N.Y.                         

Holy Martyrs Church (Armenian Apostolic), 
Bayside, N.Y.                                                                              

Holy Trinity Orthodox Church, State College, Pa.                 

Hope Christian Reformed Church, Oak Forest, Ill.                 

Infant Jesus of Prague Catholic Church, 
Flossmoor, Ill.                                                                            

James Street Church (Mennonite), Lancaster, Pa.                 

Japanese Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Seattle                  

Light of Christ Catholic Church, Rochester, N.Y.                    

Living Hope Church of the Nazarene, 
Beverly, Mass.                                                                           

Living Word Church (ELCA), Katy, Texas                               

Manor Presbyterian Church (Presbyterian 
Church in America), Cochranville, Pa.                                    

Maple Leaf Lutheran Church (ELCA), Seattle                        

Memorial Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
Ann Arbor, Mich.                                                                       

Memorial Congregational Church (UCC), 
Baldwinville, Mass.                                                                   

Memphis (Mich.) Free Methodist Church                                

Mercer Island (Wash.) Presbyterian 
Church (PCUSA)                                                                       

Miami Lakes (Fla.) Congregational Church (UCC)                 

Montview Boulevard Presbyterian Church 
(PCUSA), Denver                                                                      

Morgan Park United Methodist Church, Chicago                   

Mount Zion Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Oak Lawn, Ill.                                                                            

Nativity Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Bend, Ore.                                                                                 

New England Church (UCC), Aurora, Ill.                                 

New Summit Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Lee’s Summit, Mo.                                                                    

New Wilmington (Pa.) Presbyterian 
Church (PCUSA)                                                                       

North Chevy Chase (Md.) Christian Church 
(Disciples of Christ)                                                                 

North Como Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Roseville, Minn.                                                                         

North Wake Baptist Church (SBC), 
Wake Forest, N.C.                                                                     

Northfield (Ill.) Community Church (UCC)                             

Oxford-University United Methodist Church, 
Oxford, Miss.                                                                             
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Pass-A-Grille Community Church (UCC), 
St. Petersburg Beach, Fla.                                                       

Pawnee (Ill.) United Methodist Church                                   

Peace Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Lauderdale, Minn.                                                                     

Praise Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Somerset, N.J.                                                                           

Raleigh (N.C.) Moravian Church                                              

Raytown (Mo.) Christian Church 
(Disciples of Christ)                                                                 

Red Brick Church (independent), 
Stillman Valley, Ill.                                                                    

St. Andrew’s Episcopal Church, 
Yardley, Pa.                                                                                

St. Catherine of Alexandria Church 
(Catholic), Westford, Mass.                                                     

St. James Episcopal Church, Groveland, Mass.                      

St. John United Church of Christ, Kankakee, Ill.                    

St. John United Church of Christ, 
St. Charles, Mo.                                                                         

St. John’s Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Poughkeepsie, N.Y.                                                                   

St. Joseph Church (Catholic), Rushford, Minn.                      

St. Luke’s Episcopal Church, Bethesda, Md.                           

St. Luke’s United Methodist Church, 
Long Branch, N.J.                                                                     

St. Margaret’s Episcopal Church, Carrollton, Ga.                   

St. Mark’s Episcopal Church, Alexandria, Va.                         

St. Mark’s Episcopal Church, Newaygo, Mich.                        

St. Martin of Tours Episcopal Church, 
Kalamazoo, Mich.                                                                     

St. Mary Roman Catholic Basilica, Phoenix                            

St. Matthew’s Episcopal Church, Austin, Texas                      

St. Maximilian Kolbe Catholic Church, 
Orlando, Fla.                                                                             

St. Michael and All Angels Episcopal Church, 
Albuquerque, N.M.                                                                   

St. Paul Evangelical United Church of Christ, 
Bloomingdale, Ill.                                                                     

St. Paul Lutheran Church (ELCA), Wheaton, Ill.                     

St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, Delray Beach, Fla.                     

St. Paul’s United Methodist Church, Tulsa, Okla.                   

St. Peter’s Evangelical Lutheran Church (ELCA), 
Philadelphia                                                                              

St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church, Pittsfield, Mass.                  

St. Thomas Community Presbyterian Church 
(PCUSA), Shelby Township, Mich.                                           

Shades Crest Baptist Church (CBF), 
Birmingham, Ala.                                                                      

Sherwood (Ore.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                    

Southcliff Baptist Church (SBC), 
Fort Worth, Texas                                                                     

Springs First Church (Nazarene), 
Colorado Springs, Colo.                                                           

Third Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), Richmond, Va.             

Trinity Episcopal Church, St. Louis                                         

Trinity Lutheran Church (ELCA), Lawrence, Kan.                   

Trinity Lutheran Church (ELCA), Moline, Ill.                           

Trinity United Church (PCUSA and UCC), 
Warren, N.J.                                                                              

United Church of Christ, North Hampton, N.H.                      

Unity Reformed Church (Reformed Church 
in America), Kentwood, Mich.                                                 

University Lutheran Church of Hope (ELCA), 
Minneapolis                                                                               

Venice (Fla.) Presbyterian Church (PCUSA)                          

Wellspring Church (Anglican Mission in America), 
Englewood, Colo.                                                                     

West Side Baptist Church (American Baptist 
Churches), Topeka, Kan.                                                          

Westminster Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Anacortes, Wash.                                                                      

Westminster Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Portage, Mich.                                                                           

Westminster Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Portland, Ore.                                                                           

Westminster Presbyterian Church (PCUSA), 
Waterloo, Iowa                                                                         

Zion Mennonite Church, Hubbard, Ore.                                  

Sustaining Pastoral Excellence Renewal 
Grants Program

Continuing support for projects that focus 
attention and energy on maintaining high-
caliber ministry among pastoral leaders 
nationwide

(3 grants ranging from $600,000 
to $1,000,000)                                                       2,600,000

Asbury Theological Seminary, Wilmore, Ky.

Ecumenical Theological Seminary, Detroit

National Association for Lay Ministry, Washington

Theological Programs for High School 
Youth Supplemental Grants Initiative

Continuing support for effort to encourage 
youth to engage in theological inquiry and 
explore vocations in Christian ministry

(23 grants ranging from $40,000 
to $1,000,000)                                                     12,500,000

Associated Mennonite Biblical Seminary                               

Calvin Theological Seminary                                                   

Catholic Theological Union at Chicago                                  

Concordia Theological Seminary                                            

Duke University                                                                        

Emmanuel School of Religion                                                 

Emory University                                                                      

Gordon-Conwell Theological Seminary                                  

Huron University College                                                         

Interdenominational Theological Center                               

Lancaster Theological Seminary                                             

Lincoln Christian University                                                     

Luther Seminary                                                                       

Lutheran School of Theology at Chicago                               

Lutheran Theological Seminary at Gettysburg                      
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Pittsburgh Theological Seminary                                            

Queen’s Theological College                                                  

Reformed Presbyterian Theological Seminary                      

St. John’s University School of Theology                               

St. Mary’s Seminary and University                                         

St. Meinrad (Archabbey)                                                          

St. Paul School of Theology                                                    

Trinity Lutheran Seminary                                                       

Transition-into-Ministry Program

Programs for selected churches and 
organizations to help new pastors make 
the transition from seminary student to 
pastoral leader

(12 grants ranging from $18,750 to 
$1,924,250)                                                             12,197,200

Central Presbyterian Church, Atlanta

Christ Protestant Episcopal Church, 
Alexandria, Va. (2)

Community Christian Church, Kansas City, Mo.

Episcopal Diocese of Chicago

Higher Education and Leadership Ministries 
of the Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), 
St. Louis

Mercer University, Macon, Ga.

St. James’ Church, New York

St. Paul Lutheran Church, Davenport, Iowa

Trinity Lutheran Church, Moorhead, Minn.

Wellesley (Mass.) Congregational Church

Wilshire Baptist Church, Dallas                                               

PHILANTHROPIC LEADERSHIP EDUCATION

Community League
Newark, NJ

Continuing support for philanthropy 
education for youth                                                  800,000

Council on Foundations
Arlington, VA

2009 membership dues                                              55,000

Foundation Center
New York, NY

General operating support                                        125,000

GuideStar USA
Williamsburg, VA

General operating support                                         50,000

Independent Sector
Washington, DC

2009 membership dues                                                17,500

Philanthropy Roundtable
Washington, DC

General operating support                                         50,000

Sycamore Foundation
Indianapolis, IN

Recognition program for nonprofit organizations    20,000

Subtotal
Religion Division Grants                                        72,101,483

Subtotal
Philanthropic Leadership Education Grants          1 ,117,500

Subtotal
Religion Division Discretionary Grants                      39,000

Total
Religion Division and Philanthropic 
Leadership Education Grants                                73,257,983

Grand Total
All Divisions                                                         282,326,173

Incentive Grants for Employee Giving                   5,013,507
                                                                                                  

Total – All Grants Approved*                              287,339,680
                                                                                                  

*Reconciliation to Financial Statements

To reconcile the total of all grants approved

with the financial statements, the following

adjustments must be made:

Adjustments for decommitments                                  –

Adjustments for refunds                                     987,081

Net Total – Grant Approvals                               286,352,599
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Lilly Endowment receives several thousand grant requests

each year, but we can fund only a small percentage of

many worthwhile proposals. These guidelines, formulated

over the years by our founders and the Endowment’s

Board of Directors, govern our grantmaking decisions.

Areas of interest 

We consider proposals in three program areas:

community development, education and religion. 

We also are interested in initiatives that benefit youth,

that foster philanthropic leadership education among

nonprofit institutions, and that promote the causes of

philanthropy and volunteerism.

Community Development 

Our community development grantmaking focuses

primarily on enhancing the quality of life in Indianapolis

and Indiana. We grant funds for human and social needs,

central-city and neighborhood revitalization, low-income

housing, and arts and culture in Indianapolis.  

On a statewide level, we provide major support 

to community foundations and the advancement of 

United Ways.

Education 

Our education grantmaking revolves primarily around

our interest in improving education in Indiana, with

special emphasis on higher education and on programs

designed to increase the percentage of Indiana residents

with bachelor’s degrees. We support a number of

invitational grant programs, many of which are aimed at

Indiana’s colleges’ and universities’ abilities to increase

the state’s educational attainment level.

We also support programs that increase access to

higher education by African Americans, Native

Americans and Hispanic Americans.

Religion

Our primary aim in this field is to deepen and enrich 

the religious lives of American Christians, principally by

supporting efforts to encourage, support and educate a

new generation of talented pastors and to strengthen

current pastors in their capacities for excellence in

ministry.

We seek to help congregations be vibrant, healthy

communities of faith, and we encourage efforts that

make available and accessible the wisdom of the

Christian tradition for contemporary life. We support

seminaries, theological schools and other educational

and religious institutions that share these aims. We also

support projects that strengthen the contributions that

religious ideas, practices, values and institutions make to

the common good of our society.

Youth, Philanthropic Leadership Education, and

Fundraising and Philanthropy

Besides grantmaking in our three principal areas of

community development, education and religion, the

Endowment also awards grants in support of youth

development, philanthropic leadership education, and

fundraising and philanthropy.

Our youth grants support direct-service

organizations in Marion County, Ind., build the capacity

of intermediary organizations throughout the state, and
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provide professional development for the staffs and

volunteer leadership of these organizations.

In philanthropic leadership education, we seek to

support and nurture good stewardship among the

trustees and executives of the types of charitable

organizations we primarily serve by funding scholarship

on the characteristics of able trusteeship and good

governance of nonprofit organizations.

On a limited basis, we also support programs

nationally and in Indiana to increase charitable giving

among Americans. We fund efforts to create a body of

reliable knowledge about giving and fundraising and to

encourage the scholarly pursuit of the subject.

Geographic priorities 

In keeping with the founders’ wishes, the Endowment

gives priority to efforts that improve the quality of life in

Indianapolis and Indiana.

This priority applies to grants for community

development and elementary/secondary education.

Exceptions include occasional funding for national

programs that complement or relate to our work in

Indiana.

The Endowment’s interest in higher education

extends to Indiana colleges and universities and nationwide

to historically black colleges, Native American colleges

and programs to increase access to college by Hispanic

Americans. Grants to institutions of higher learning

outside Indiana generally are restricted to programs

offered by the Endowment on an invitational basis.

Our work in religion is national in scope, as is our

support for philanthropic leadership education. Grants

for international purposes are limited to a small number

of disaster-relief efforts and to a few United States-

based economics and public policy programs affecting

North and South American countries.

Limitations 

The Endowment generally does not support the 

following:

n Loans or cash grants to private individuals. Most grant

money is awarded to charitable entities. We do not

assist individuals with personal or business-related

finances.

n Requests to discharge preexisting debts of individuals

or organizations.

n Health-care projects.

n Mass media projects. The Endowment does not

typically fund mass media projects and limits

consideration to projects that fall squarely within 

our specific program areas.

n Endowments or endowed chairs. The Endowment

targets its grants for specific purposes. Except in

unusual cases involving long-standing grantees or

special initiatives, we do not contribute to endowments

or endowed chairs.

n Libraries. Except for special initiatives, the Endowment

regularly declines grants to public libraries outside

Marion County, Ind. Library grants to universities

generally are confined to the state of Indiana and to

invitees under certain Endowment grant initiatives.

n Outside Indianapolis. Requests usually are declined for

building campaigns, elementary/secondary education,

arts and culture, human service projects, general

operating funds and neighborhood projects (except 

as part of invitational grant programs).

Application process

If you believe your charitable organization has a request

that fits within our guidelines, we suggest that you write

us a preliminary letter of no more than two pages. 

The letter should tell us about your organization, the

project you have in mind and the amount of support you

will need from us. We respond in writing to all

preliminary inquiries. In cases that warrant further

consideration, we may ask you to furnish a full proposal.

E-mailed or faxed requests will not be considered.

Approval process 

A program director generally reviews grant proposals.

Those that meet the criteria for consideration proceed 

to the appropriate division for review, then to the

corporate officers, and finally to members of the Board

of Directors. The Board of Directors considers grants in

March, June, September, November and December. 

The grant review process takes three to six months. 

All grantseekers receive written notification of our

decisions.

Please direct correspondence to:

Program Office

Lilly Endowment Inc.

2801 N. Meridian St.

Post Office Box 88068

Indianapolis, IN 46208-0068

Telephone (317) 924-5471

Fax (317) 926-4431

Web site: lillyendowment.org
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